

The Scottish Parliament Pàrlamaid na h-Alba

Official Report

MEETING OF THE PARLIAMENT

Thursday 5 March 2015



Thursday 5 March 2015

CONTENTS

	COI.
GENERAL QUESTION TIME	
Guardianship Orders	
Raith Junction Improvement Works	
Childcare Commitment (Glasgow)	
Payday Lending and Gambling	
Attainment Fund	
Endocrine Disruptors (European Union Consultation)	
Economic Impact of Oil and Gas (Highlands and Islands)	
Register of Land Ownership	
FIRST MINISTER'S QUESTION TIME	
EngagementsSecretary of State for Scotland (Meetings)	
Cabinet (Meetings)	
River Clyde (Environmental Concerns)	
NHS 24 (Recruitment and Retention)	
Planning Process	
FAIRTRADE FORTNIGHT 2015	
Motion debated—[George Adam].	20
George Adam (Paisley) (SNP)	23
Patricia Ferguson (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab)	
Gordon MacDonald (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP)	
Annabel Goldie (West Scotland) (Con)	
David Torrance (Kirkcaldy) (SNP)	
James Kelly (Rutherglen) (Lab)	32
The Minister for Business, Energy and Tourism (Fergus Ewing)	33
SCOTTISH PARLIAMENTARY CORPORATE BODY QUESTION TIME	
Postage Provision	
School Visits (Remote and Rural Schools)	
Lobbying Register	38
PROTECTING PUBLIC SERVICES AND BOOSTING SCOTLAND'S ECONOMY	40
Motion moved—[John Swinney].	
Amendment moved—[Jackie Baillie].	
Amendment moved—[Gavin Brown].	
Amendment moved—[Willie Rennie]. The Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Constitution and Economy	
(John Swinney)	40
Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab)	
Gavin Brown (Lothian) (Con)	
Willie Rennie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD)	
Mark McDonald (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP)	
James Kelly (Rutherglen) (Lab)	
Christina McKelvie (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP)	
John Pentland (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab)	
Chic Brodie (South Scotland) (SNP)	
Mike MacKenzie (Highlands and Islands) (SNP)	
Alex Rowley (Cowdenbeath) (Lab)	
Stewart Stevenson (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP)	70
Gil Paterson (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP)	
Hanzala Malik (Glasgow) (Lab)	
Richard Lyle (Central Scotland) (SNP)	
Willie Rennie	
Alex Johnstone (North East Scotland) (Con)	
Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab)	
John Swinney	87

PARLIAMENTARY BUREAU MOTIONS	91
Motions moved—[Joe FitzPatrick].	
POINT OF ORDER	91
Motions moved—[Joe FitzPatrick].	
DECISION TIME	92

Scottish Parliament

Thursday 5 March 2015

[The Presiding Officer opened the meeting at 11:40]

General Question Time

Guardianship Orders

1. Alison McInnes (North East Scotland) (LD): To ask the Scotlish Government under what circumstances it considers it appropriate for a guardianship order to be granted. (S4O-04082)

The Minister for Community Safety and Legal Affairs (Paul Wheelhouse): The Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 put in place a range of measures to provide for the personal welfare and/or financial affairs of adults who are incapable by reason of mental disorder or inability to communicate of managing their own affairs. An application for a guardianship order can be made to the sheriff court by an individual or the local authority when no one else is applying and the adult has been assessed as requiring a guardian. The need for guardianship must be demonstrated by the applicant and is governed by the grounds that are set out in the 2000 act. Arrangements for making applications are set out in sections 57 and 58 of that act. It is for the sheriff to determine and which circumstances whether in guardianship order should be granted.

Guardianship orders can cover financial and/or welfare matters. An order is likely to be suitable when a person of 16 years or over lacks capacity or has never had the capacity to take decisions or actions on those matters for himself or herself. It allows another person with an interest in the adult, such as a family member, the authority to act and make decisions on their behalf.

Alison McInnes: Monitoring by the Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland has revealed that the number of successful new applications has risen by 58 per cent since 2008-09 and that orders are increasingly being used for adults with learning disabilities. Campaigners such as People First (Scotland) are concerned that some people with learning disabilities are having control over their lives removed when it would be more appropriate to support them to make the decisions that they are capable of making.

Given that it is 15 years since the 2000 act was passed, does the Government believe that it would be appropriate to review the law and practice on guardianship orders to ensure that their use is consistent and justified and that individual autonomy is being upheld, as called for in

"Scotland's National Action Plan for Human Rights 2013-2017"?

Paul Wheelhouse: I recognise Alison McInnes's point about learning disabilities. The 2000 act applies to those who have lost the capacity to make their own decisions or who have never had that capacity, as I said in my first answer.

There is no strict list of categories of people to whom the provisions apply, but the legislation recognises that decision-making capacity is not an all-or-nothing proposition and that capacity may fluctuate. Adults who have some form of learning disability may of course be able to take some decisions for themselves and should be supported in doing so when that is possible.

Each individual's requirements vary. When guardianship is appropriate, the order can be tailored to meet the individual's needs. I am happy to discuss with Alison McInnes any specific ideas that she has, because I am conscious that the issue is increasingly important in the modern era. I certainly encourage people to look at matters closely to see what is suitable for their relative and to ensure that the appropriate arrangements are in place, and I am happy to meet Alison McInnes to discuss that.

Raith Junction Improvement Works

2. Margaret Mitchell (Central Scotland) (Con): To ask the Scotlish Government when the various phases of the Transport Scotland Raith junction improvement works are due for completion. (S4O-04083)

The Cabinet Secretary for Infrastructure, Investment and Cities (Keith Brown): The improvement works at the Raith interchange are being progressed as part of the M8, M73 and M74 motorway improvements non-profit-distributing contract. The overall construction work on the contract remains on course for completion as planned in spring 2017.

Margaret Mitchell: I am disappointed that the cabinet secretary cannot give more specific dates for the various completions. Is he aware that residents who live in proximity to the construction site expected disruption and therefore negotiated a generous working pattern beginning at 6.30 in the morning and ending at 11 pm? That agreement has been breached on one occasion, which resulted in a sleepless night for the residents. They have now been told that, from 20 March, 24/7 working is due to recommence, with the pounding of heavy machinery, intrusive floodlights and all that that entails. Does the cabinet secretary think that that is reasonable? If not, can he intervene?

Keith Brown: I am not sure why Margaret Mitchell should be disappointed with the answer that I gave. I said that the project is due to be completed in spring 2017. There is no phasing, so there are no times by which different phases of the contract will be completed, as has sometimes been the case with other projects. That has not changed.

If, as Margaret Mitchell said, there has been an agreement that has been breached, I would of course be concerned. I am happy to look into the matter, and if she wants to write to me with more detailed information, I will look into it on her behalf.

Childcare Commitment (Glasgow)

3. Bob Doris (Glasgow) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government when it last met Glasgow City Council to discuss how it is taking forward the childcare commitment for eligible two-year-olds and all three and four-year-olds. (S4O-04084)

The Cabinet Secretary for Education and Lifelong Learning (Angela Constance): Scottish Government officials and Glasgow City Council officials met on 29 January to discuss how the council is implementing the early learning and childcare commitment for all eligible children in its area, and there has been on-going correspondence since that meeting. In addition, the First Minister met the fair funding for our kids campaign on 9 January and has written to it this week about its three suggestions.

Bob Doris: Following a number of meetings that I had with fair funding for our kids, I made a number of representations to Glasgow City Council on the need to develop more full-time nursery places, additional full-day provision and extended partnership nursery provision to ensure that every child's right to childcare is as practical and accessible as possible. How will the Scottish Government work with the council and, more significantly, monitor the progress that is being made to ensure that places are available at the right place and time so that the parents I represent can access the provision that they have been promised?

Angela Constance: The Scottish Government will be more than happy to work with all local authorities, including Glasgow City Council, on how we can work together to build our shared ambition for high-quality, flexible childcare and the plans that we all have to expand childcare provision. I assure Mr Doris and others that we are happy to take forward on-going dialogue on that with all our partners in local government.

Cara Hilton (Dunfermline) (Lab): Given the evidence across Scotland that thousands of three and four-year-olds are missing out on their free childcare places, will the cabinet secretary commit

to an urgent review to identify the full extent of the problem, which includes getting an accurate takeup rate? Does she agree that this crucial national policy requires national oversight to ensure that every child receives the free childcare to which they are entitled?

Angela Constance: Ms Hilton overstates her case. We know that the take-up rate for statutory early learning and childcare is very high—in fact, it is at near-universal levels. That does not mean that there is no local variation and it most certainly does not mean that there are no families out there with particular needs who cannot access what is needed for their family.

As I indicated in my reply to Mr Doris, the Government and the First Minister have responded positively to the fair funding for our kids campaign's three suggestions. We welcome those suggestions and, as I said in reply to Mr Doris, we are more than happy to work with our partners in local government on, for example, how we can develop reciprocal arrangements between local authorities. The First Minister has also written to the chief statistician to see how we can improve data collection and the sensible use of data. We will also consider the issue of independent oversight.

Payday Lending and Gambling

4. Margaret McCulloch (Central Scotland) (Lab): To ask the Scottish Government what progress it is making towards addressing payday lending and gambling in town centres and neighbourhoods. (S4O-04085)

The Cabinet Secretary for Social Justice, Communities and Pensioners' Rights (Alex Neil): The Scottish Government has implemented the majority of its action plan, with other on-going elements, to tackle the spread of payday loan companies that sell high-interest, short-term debt. For example, we have ended business rates relief eligibility under the small business bonus for payday-lending properties, launched the Scotland's financial health service web portal and amended Scottish planning policy.

However, specific controls are needed to address concerns about indebtedness and problem gambling. The United Kingdom Government's response to the Smith commission recommendations on that falls short of what is needed. The Scottish Government's first priority must therefore be to press the UK Government on those matters, as that is by far the most effective way of dealing with the problems.

Margaret McCulloch: Even as the Scottish National Party was participating in the Smith commission, it remained clear about its intention to act on the clustering of payday lenders in our high streets with the powers that are at the Scottish Parliament's disposal. Why is the Smith agreement now being used as an excuse to delay the action on the proliferation of payday lenders that the Scottish Government promised to take in its action plan?

Alex Neil: We have taken action in the Scottish planning policy that will deal with clustering. That has already been announced.

The issue that has arisen is whether any effective use can be made of use classes orders. Our position is clear: we are demanding the powers that were promised in the Smith report and, if we get them, we will use them, as they will be much more effective in dealing with payday lenders and problem gambling than are planning controls and use classes orders. If we do not get the most effective powers, we will introduce measures to use UCOs. However, as the recent consultation pointed out in no uncertain terms, UCOs are of limited impact and certainly have nothing like the impact that could be made if we were given the powers that were promised in the Smith report.

Stuart McMillan (West Scotland) (SNP): Does the cabinet secretary agree that the most effective way of dealing with problem gambling in our high streets, particularly in relation to fixed-odds betting terminals, would be to reduce the stake from £100 to £2 per spin, but—unfortunately—the Scottish Government does not currently have the power to do that?

Alex Neil: That approach has been applied elsewhere and is under consideration in other parts of the United Kingdom. If we had the appropriate powers, we would certainly look at it, because problem gambling is a major blight on our society.

Attainment Fund

5. lain Gray (East Lothian) (Lab): To ask the Scottish Government what plans it has to publish further details of its attainment fund. (S4O-04086)

The Cabinet Secretary for Education and Lifelong Learning (Angela Constance): Having identified the first seven local authorities to participate in the £100 million attainment Scotland fund, we are now moving into an intense planning phase, working closely with relevant education stakeholders and the participating authorities to develop detailed improvement plans for their particular context. As part of that work, we will identify the necessary resources required and work out allocations on the basis of need. I will provide further information once those discussions have concluded.

lain Gray: Parliament should be in no doubt that Labour believes that this issue is the key

challenge for our schools. We support the attainment fund, but with eight years to prepare and £100 million to spend, does the cabinet secretary not think that it would have been reasonable to have in place a strategic plan based on the professional expertise of our teachers, educational best practice and indeed the aspirations and ambitions of parents? Is she not making it up as she goes along?

Angela Constance: It is Mr Gray who is playing catch up here. It is Mr Gray and the Labour Party who are emulating the Scottish Government's plans for education. For example—[Interruption.]

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): Order.

Angela Constance: It is clear from Jim Murphy's press release from the end of February that he backs our plans for an attainment fund and for improving reporting and making progress on closing the attainment gap. It is also clear that the Labour Party backs our plans for enshrining in law the role of the chief education officer.

It is Labour that is playing catch up, and I am very glad that it is emulating our plans.

Endocrine Disruptors (European Union Consultation)

6. Graeme Dey (Angus South) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government whether it has responded to the EU consultation on the impact of the use of endocrine disruptors in farming. (S40-04087)

The Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs, Food and Environment (Richard Lochhead): The reply from the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs to the recent European Commission consultation reflected views from across the United Kingdom. The response highlights the need to protect human health and the environment through a process that is proportionate and takes account of the nature of what are referred to as endocrine disruptors.

European pesticide legislation has added an extra tier of assessment on the basis of hazard, as well as the risk factors that pesticides pose. Although it is vital that pesticides continue to be properly assessed and should be used only where they do not present a risk to human and animal health or to the environment, any assessment needs to be proportionate and evidence based.

Graeme Dey: There is undoubtedly reason to limit the use of endocrine disruptors. Responsible soft fruit growers in my constituency are already using endocrine disruptors only as a last resort and are confining usage to polytunnel environments. Whatever case the cabinet secretary is making on the issue, will he highlight that fact?

Will the cabinet secretary also highlight the predicted impact on crop yield, which, depending on which scenario under consultation is implemented, would result in losses ranging from 40 per cent up to 89 per cent, according to the Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board?

Richard Lochhead: I recognise the very serious concerns that are being expressed by Scotland's valuable soft fruit sector. The Scotlish Government is meeting with NFU Scotland, the Agricultural Industries Confederation and the Crop Protection Association in April to discuss many of those concerns and the issues for Scotland that are being raised.

The Government has also asked experts from science and advice for Scottish agriculture and from the Scottish rural college to identify the potential risks for Scottish crops and what alternatives could be used by our farmers. I recognise that this is an important debate that could have ramifications for Scottish crop production.

Economic Impact of Oil and Gas (Highlands and Islands)

7. David Stewart (Highlands and Islands) (Lab): To ask the Scottish Government what appraisal it has made of the economic impact in the Highlands and Islands of the oil and gas sector. (S4O-04088)

The Minister for Business, Energy and Tourism (Fergus Ewing): Highlands and Islands Enterprise account manages 100 oil and gas companies and invested around £2 million in 2014 in 23 companies that are active in oil and gas, levering in a further £58 million from the private sector, with the potential to create 1,400 new jobs and an estimated increase in turnover totalling £216 million across the region. I co-chair the energy north oil and gas task force, which brings together industry and the public sector to maximise opportunities for oil and gas companies in the Highlands and Islands.

David Stewart: Does the minister share my view that the Arnish fabrication yard, with its skilled staff, deep water and land to develop, could be the ideal location for the newly announced wave energy Scotland posts and a facility to carry out future oil rig decommissioning?

Fergus Ewing: First of all, it should be understood that the most important thing is to avoid the premature cessation of production in our oil and gas fields. That is our primary responsibility, because premature cessation of production means an end to the jobs and business that flow from oil and gas developments and an end to the tax revenue of hundreds of billions of pounds that flow therefrom. However, Mr Stewart

is absolutely right to say that decommissioning presents an opportunity, and I—like him, I suspect—have visited the Arnish yard and worked closely with John Robertson and Burntisland Fabrications. I would certainly expect that BiFab would wish to play a part in the decommissioning opportunities.

As far as the second part of Mr Stewart's question, on wave energy Scotland, is concerned, I am proud that the Scottish Government has announced funding of £14.3 million, the largest ever investment in marine energy, and I think that the benefits of that investment will be felt across the Highlands and Islands: in Orkney, in Inverness, where the core staff will be based, and in the Western Isles. I am happy to continue to work with Mr Stewart on all those matters.

Register of Land Ownership

8. Rob Gibson (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government how much private and public land in Scotland was registered on the national map-based register of land ownership by December 2014 and how much it envisages being registered in the next five years. (S4O-04089)

The Minister for Business, Energy and Tourism (Fergus Ewing): At December 2014, just over 58 per cent of titles and 27 per cent of land had entered the land register of Scotland. Information on whether owners are public, private or third sector bodies is not recorded. Ministers have invited the keeper to complete the land register over the next 10 years, and to register all public land over the next five years.

Rob Gibson: I understand that only 24 per cent of the land holdings in Ross and Cromarty was mapped in the register last year. Progress is painfully slow. What resources can be made available to speed up that process to achieve the targets that the minister has mentioned? In particular, could he comment on whether there should be higher registration fees for large estates or some means to employ more people in Registers of Scotland?

Fergus Ewing: I have every confidence that the keeper and her staff have the capacity and professional skills sufficient to meet the task with which they have been charged by the Scottish Government to complete the land register over the next decade and to register all public land over the next five years. We have adopted the carrotrather-than-stick approach by considering offering incentives for voluntary registration. We also work with all parties—public bodies and landowners—to encourage landowners to make voluntary registration of their holdings. We will also be requiring public bodies to register their land, so that is something that they will be doing.

The Presiding Officer: That ends general questions. Before we move to the next item of business, members will wish to join me in welcoming to the gallery His Excellency the Rt Hon Sir Lockwood Smith, the High Commissioner of New Zealand. [Applause.]

First Minister's Question Time

12:00

Engagements

1. Kezia Dugdale (Lothian) (Lab): To ask the First Minister what engagements she has planned for the rest of the day. (S4F-02630)

The First Minister (Nicola Sturgeon): Engagements to take forward the Government's programme for Scotland.

Kezia Dugdale: Earlier this week, the Scottish National Party Government published its latest economic strategy. At the heart of it is tackling inequality. To do that, we need to expand opportunity, particularly for women. Can the First Minister tell us whether the number of women at college in Scotland is higher or lower than it was when the SNP first took power?

The First Minister: People can guess the answer that Kezia Dugdale wants me to give to that question, because she never comes to the chamber with anything that is good news. Her entire objective is to talk Scotland down.

I am very passionate about increasing opportunity for women, which I thought was something that Kezia Dugdale agreed with me on. That is why the Government has, for example, been increasing childcare—[Interruption.]

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): Order, Mr Kelly.

The First Minister: —and is determined to increase it even further over the next parliamentary session. It is also why we have been taking action to ensure that those who go to our colleges come out of them with a better chance of having the qualifications that equip them for the workplace. We will continue to take real action to ensure that women, young people and indeed everybody in Scotland have the opportunity that we want them to have. We will leave Labour to its desperation.

Kezia Dugdale: It is quite clear from that answer that the First Minister does not have a clue how many college places women have. The reality is that, under the SNP, the number of women studying at college across Scotland has fallen by 85,656.

Members: Shame!

The Presiding Officer: Order.

Christine Grahame (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP): Rubbish!

The Presiding Officer: Order!

Kezia Dugdale: The member shouts, "Rubbish!" Those are the Government's own figures.

Christine Grahame: I want to hear about Prestwick.

The Presiding Officer: Ms Grahame!

Kezia Dugdale: There are 85,000 fewer women studying in our colleges. The cuts to colleges are hurting women the most—women who want to get a better education so that they can get a decent job.

We know that women are being left behind when it comes to education under the SNP. Let us try skills. Here is a wee challenge for the First Minister: let us see whether she can get through a whole answer without mentioning the Labour Party. [Interruption.]

The Presiding Officer: Order! Let us hear Ms Dugdale, please.

Kezia Dugdale: Can the First Minister tell us how many women in Scotland started an engineering apprenticeship last year?

The First Minister: I think that Kezia Dugdale's back benchers would like her to get all the way through all her questions without mentioning the position of the Labour Party.

I will again try to share some facts with Kezia Dugdale. Here they are. [Interruption.]

The Presiding Officer: Order.

The First Minister: She might be interested in this—I think that it is rather important. Scotland has the highest female employment, the lowest female unemployment and the lowest female inactivity rate of any nation in the United Kingdom. That is a result of the action that the Government has been taking.

Let me give Kezia Dugdale some more facts, about colleges. We are spending more on colleges today than Labour ever did throughout its entire time in office. We have delivered on our commitment to maintain full-time college places. In 2013-14, approximately 14,000 more students successfully completed courses leading to recognised qualifications than was the case in 2008-09, which is an increase of 33 per cent. We are delivering on providing the opportunities that women, young people and people across Scotland need, and this Government will continue to do so.

Kezia Dugdale: I am glad that the First Minister finally found the answer to the first question in her book.

I asked about apprenticeships. Last year, just 68 women started an engineering apprenticeship. There have been 25,000 apprenticeships in the

past year, with just 68 women learning to be engineers. Under the SNP, women are being locked out of the jobs of the future and are being deprived of the opportunity to develop their skills.

Perhaps, once women get into work, things improve under the SNP. Can the First Minister tell us how many women in Scotland earn less than the living wage?

The First Minister: Dearie me. Let us address the point on skills in modern apprenticeships. Under Labour in 2007, just 15,000 people started modern apprenticeships. We are now delivering more than 25,000 every year and we intend to increase the number to 30,000 by 2020.

I want to see more women going into modern apprenticeships. I particularly want to see more women going into modern apprenticeships in careers such as engineering. That is precisely why, last Friday, I visited GSK in Irvine to launch a campaign to encourage more women into apprenticeships.

On the living wage, it is because we want to see more people and more women included in the living wage that we are funding the Poverty Alliance to run the living wage accreditation scheme. A growing number of companies are signing up to that scheme and paying their staff the living wage.

We will leave Labour, which has had ample opportunity to tackle these issues in the past, to talk about them. This Government will get on with doing them and delivering.

Kezia Dugdale: The First Minister talks about ample opportunities, but she has had eight years to do something about this. She was the minister who ordered her MSPs to oppose the living wage when we fought for it last year. The reality is that 264,000 women in Scotland earn less than the living wage. That is more than a quarter of a million Scottish women who are locked into low-paid work and struggling to make ends meet.

The SNP's record on supporting women is not one that it should be proud of. College cuts are hurting women the most. Quality apprenticeships for young women are lagging miles behind those for men. The SNP voted against the living wage for hundreds of thousands of women in Scotland. Just saying that you are for gender equality does not make it so. Hundreds of thousands of women in Scotland applauded when this First Minister walked through the front door of Bute house but they are already wondering what difference it makes.

The First Minister might know that the theme of international women's day on Sunday is make it happen. When will she?

The First Minister: This line of questioning on important issues might have more credibility coming from Labour if it was not the party that every single attempt to devolve employment legislation to this Parliament and linked arms with the Tories to prevent this Parliament from having control over the minimum wage. The Government will get on with delivering and making sure that we are providing opportunities and extending the living wage in a way that Labour never did when it had the opportunity in government. It is because people see the Government delivering that people right across our country-men and women-are opting to support the SNP and have left Labour languishing in an obviously desperate position.

Secretary of State for Scotland (Meetings)

2. Ruth Davidson (Glasgow) (Con): To ask the First Minister when she will next meet the Secretary of State for Scotland. (S4F-02631)

The First Minister (Nicola Sturgeon): No plans in the near future.

Ruth Davidson: When Nicola Sturgeon was health minister, the number of accident and emergency admissions hit the 1.5 million mark and she said that we had to act. The Scottish Government introduced a new target of performance, telling health boards across the country to reduce the number people attending accident and emergency departments. In fact, she told Parliament:

"NHS Boards will achieve agreed reductions in the rates of attendance at A&E between 2009/10 and 2013/14."

Has the First Minister met her own targets?

The First Minister: I will share with Ruth Davidson some facts on accident and emergency performance. Of our 14 health boards, 11 are treating nine out of 10 patients within four hours and six of them are already meeting the 95 per cent target.

We have three health boards in which there are significant challenges, partly as a result of higher winter demands in those areas. If we look at our two poorest-performing health boards, we see that in NHS Ayrshire and Arran the rate of hospital admissions is more than double the rate in the rest of the country and that in NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde it is nearly double that rate. That is why we are working intensively to support those boards to improve their performance.

I want to see people accessing care where it is most appropriate for them to do so. When that is an accident and emergency department, we must ensure that all our boards—not just 11 out of 14 of them—are meeting the targets that we set. We also need to ensure that, when people require

care in settings other than accident and emergency departments, whether that is through general practitioner services or through NHS 24, they can do that.

The Government will continue to support our NHS to improve on the performance that it is already delivering.

Ruth Davidson: With the greatest respect, I have to say that that was an answer but not to the question that I asked.

That is okay, however, because the Scottish Government's own website this morning has the answer that I sought. It admits that the emergency admissions figure for 2013-14 is

"the highest figure seen so far".

The target was introduced six years ago, but it has still not been met. In fact, the latest figures, which were published this week, show that A and E attendance was up by 83,500 compared with 2008, which is higher than ever before.

I accept that we need a range of solutions. The A and E staff I spoke to this week told me that one of the biggest problems that they face is the people in the emergency departments who simply do not need to be there. Those include thousands of people who clog up casualty wards simply because they have drunk too much. This week, we suggested that we could ease the pressure by setting up recovery centres, so that A and E units would not be required to mop up after a Friday night out. I know that the First Minister needs to use all her powers to sort the matter out, but will she consider our plan as part of the solution?

The First Minister: First, I remind Ruth Davidson that the Government is reviewing out-of-hours care. I hope that she welcomes that move. Secondly, I am not sure whether Ruth Davidson is saying—I assume that she is not—that people who go to A and E departments over the winter period are inappropriately accessing accident and emergency services. If she looks at the figures in depth, she will see that the increase in the number of people who are being admitted to hospital from accident and emergency departments suggests that the people who are presenting are ill and require hospital care.

On the specific question about alcohol, I am happy to discuss the proposal in more detail with Ruth Davidson. It is important that our accident and emergency departments are not burdened with people we do not want to see there. We do not want people who get drunk and disorderly adding to the pressure in our accident and emergency departments. We are providing investment to support the setting up of safe zone buses in Glasgow, Dundee and Edinburgh to

provide alternative care for people, and I am happy to discuss the matter with Ruth Davidson.

The final point that I make is a serious one. Yes, we need to look at how we care for and deal with people who get into that position, but surely we should be trying to ensure that we reduce the number of people who do that. I say to Ruth Davidson and others in the chamber that, if we are serious about reducing the burden on our accident and emergency departments that is caused by alcohol, it strikes me that one thing that we certainly should not be considering doing is bringing alcohol back to football matches.

Rob Gibson (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP): I ask the First Minister what can be done to protect the livelihoods of sustainable fishers in the Inner Sound off Applecross, in my constituency and Dave Thompson's constituency, when those local fishers, who have harvested the area regularly, are to be excluded by the Ministry of Defence plan unilaterally to double the size of the British underwater test and evaluation centre—BUTEC—torpedo testing range there.

The First Minister: Richard Lochhead, the Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs, Food and Environment, is writing to MOD ministers, stressing the need for them to take full account of the impact of their proposals on local fishing communities and the marine environment before they come to a decision. He is also seeking a more rigorous basis for the consenting of marine defence developments, with formal involvement of the Scottish Government. I am sure that Richard Lochhead will be happy to discuss the matter in more detail with Rob Gibson, who has a constituency interest in it.

Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab): The First Minister will be aware that Police Scotland wants to merge its K and L divisions to create a policing area covering more than 3,000 square miles from Tiree to Clydebank. It was forced into consultation, it has refused to answer freedom of information requests, and it tells me that everybody agrees with it although it has no evidence to support that. It will not even tell us when the decision will be made. Will the First Minister draw back that veil of secrecy, ensure that consultation responses are published before a decision is made and see that the Cabinet Secretary for Justice meets local representatives?

The First Minister: I am sure that the Cabinet Secretary for Justice would be very happy to discuss that and other matters with people with an interest, including Jackie Baillie. What I would say on it is that Police Scotland was right to consult on the issue, and it should consider the responses to that consultation very carefully.

These are important decisions, they are obviously and for understandable reasons very sensitive decisions, and they should be taken with the appropriate degree of transparency.

Cabinet (Meetings)

3. Willie Rennie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD): To ask the First Minister what issues will be discussed at the next meeting of the Cabinet. (S4F-02627)

The First Minister (Nicola Sturgeon): Matters of importance to the people of Scotland.

Willie Rennie: NHS Fife's standards have been below target in 10 out of 19 areas since October. Performance has got worse since Christmas. There is an internal review, but, as a former health secretary, the First Minister must have some insight into why people in Fife seem to be getting a raw deal. Why have things got so bad in Fife?

The First Minister: NHS Fife, like many of our health boards, is dealing with a range of challenges. NHS Fife, like all of our health boards, is performing well at meeting those challenges but needs to be supported to do so even further.

That is why the Cabinet Secretary for Health and Wellbeing discusses these matters regularly with NHS Fife and with other health boards. We will continue to make sure that that health board gets the support that it needs to meet the challenges appropriately.

Willie Rennie: None of that is new. Levels of delayed discharge have been soaring; cancer treatment and accident and emergency waiting-time targets have been missed; and—this is critical—our dedicated national health service staff are under increasing strain, with alarming amounts of work in Fife.

Patients there are waiting for answers. What is the longest that the First Minister is prepared to wait to see Fife turn around?

The First Minister: As the member is no doubt aware, there is a plan in place between Fife Council and NHS Fife to tackle delayed discharge. If memory serves me correctly, I spoke to the chair of NHS Fife about this particular matter on my first day in office as First Minister. The two bodies are working hard, as are other health boards and local authorities, to tackle delayed discharges, because, as we all know, tackling delayed discharges helps to tackle some of the other pressures on emergency services.

The most recent statistics available—those for the week starting 16 February—show that the performance of NHS Fife against the four-hour accident and emergency waiting-time target was 88.2 per cent. That is not good enough, but we are working with the board to improve it. Our NHS boards face challenges each and every day. This Government will work with them each and every day to help them meet those challenges, and that is the case in Fife as it is in every single part of the country.

River Clyde (Environmental Concerns)

4. Stuart McMillan (West Scotland) (SNP): To ask the First Minister what discussions the Scottish Government has had with the Ministry of Defence regarding environmental concerns on the River Clyde. (S4F-02632)

The First Minister (Nicola Sturgeon): According to the MOD's figures, there were 105 nuclear safety incidents on the River Clyde in 2013-14. That is a 50 per cent increase since 2012-13, which, I am sure, is of concern to all of us

The Scottish Environment Protection Agency regularly engages with the MOD about environmental issues relating to its sites, but the current legislation limits the role that we can play. That is why we are proposing to legislate so that SEPA has the power to demand action from the MOD to enforce the requirements on radioactive substances.

Stuart McMillan: As the First Minister mentioned, there has been an increase in safety incidents at Faslane, which was reported at the weekend. There was also a nuclear convoy travelling over the Erskine bridge in January at a time when the bridge was closed to high-sided vehicles due to high winds.

Does the First Minister agree with me that that dangerous act, along with the environmental concerns, show us just how dangerous and damaging it is to have these weapons of mass destruction in our waters, and that that is why they should be scrapped?

The First Minister: I absolutely agree with that. The Scottish Government is strongly opposed to the possession of nuclear weapons, and we are committed to seeing the safe withdrawal of Trident nuclear weapons from Scottish waters.

The financial costs of the proposed replacement of Trident have been estimated at a staggering £100 billion over its lifetime. I think that that money would be far, far better spent on initiatives to support our people and our economy.

I have to say that I was interested to see that most of the Labour Party's candidates for the general election agree with the Scottish National Party on the issue of Trident. According to a Campaign for Nuclear Disarmament survey reported in *New Statesman*, 75 per cent of Labour's candidates are opposed to renewing Trident. Maybe one day the leadership will find the

backbone to agree with the majority of its candidates.

NHS 24 (Recruitment and Retention)

5. Dr Richard Simpson (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): To ask the First Minister what measures the Scottish Government is taking to ensure that NHS 24 is able to recruit and retain the staff it needs. (S4F-02633)

The First Minister (Nicola Sturgeon): Safe and effective staffing levels are a priority for all national health service boards, and NHS 24 is no exception. We work closely with all boards to ensure that they comply with our requirement that they recruit and retain a high-quality workforce that is fully able to deliver high-quality services.

A record high number of staff are working in Scotland's NHS, and NHS 24 staffing levels have risen by more than 9 per cent under this Government. Despite a busy winter, NHS 24 has provided safe and effective support to tens of thousands of people when they needed it. I take the opportunity to thank all the staff of NHS 24 for the work that they do.

Dr Simpson: I join the First Minister in thanking the staff. However, Professor Crooks, the medical director of NHS 24, was reported this week as saying that NHS 24's difficulty in recruiting nurses might make the service unsustainable in the long term.

In 2007, Labour's last planned intake of nursing students was more than 3,300. Why has the First Minister cut the intake of nursing students in every year of the Scottish National Party Government, which has resulted in 3,000 fewer nursing students being admitted to training? Is not that another of our NHS emergency services being put in jeopardy by the SNP Government's planning failure?

The First Minister: The number of qualified nurses working in our NHS has increased under this Government. There are 10,000 more people in total working in our NHS than when we took office. NHS 24 staffing levels, in particular, have increased by 9 per cent. NHS 24 staffing increased by 4.6 per cent between September and December last year and George Crooks, whom Richard Simpson quoted, said:

"We can absolutely assure the safety and effectiveness of NHS 24 services to the patients who call us."

That is delivery by the Government working with the NHS. We will continue to work with the NHS to ensure that it continues to deliver high-quality services to all the people of Scotland.

Liam McArthur (Orkney Islands) (LD): The First Minister will be aware that there are particular problems with recruitment of general practitioners

in rural and island areas. Will she advise members what assessment has been done of whether there is greater reliance on NHS 24 in those communities? Will she undertake an assessment of the potential impact of staff shortages in NHS 24 on rural and island communities?

The First Minister: Liam McArthur has raised a valid point. It has long been the case that there are particular recruitment challenges in some of our more rural communities and, certainly, in our island communities. I am more than happy to pick up the specifics of his question—which asks for us to assess the impact of NHS 24 staff shortages—in our general review of out-of-hours care. I am sure that the Cabinet Secretary for Health, Wellbeing and Sport would be happy to discuss that with him in more detail.

Planning Process

6. Liz Smith (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con): To ask the First Minister what the Scottish Government's position is on the National Trust for Scotland, the John Muir Trust and RSPB Scotland's view that the planning process should be wholly independent of government. (S4F-02629)

The First Minister (Nicola Sturgeon): I am not sure that Liz Smith's representation of the views of those organisations is entirely correct. If we look at the RSPB's website, we see that it says:

"Of course the Government must have a central role in planning and in other nationally important decision making".

We believe that local and central Government have important and complementary roles in our planning system. In terms of an appeals process, we already have the respected and valued reporter and the directorate for planning and environmental appeals, which provide a separate process to the planning authority.

We continue to engage with stakeholders to ensure that planning remains efficient, effective and inclusive, with the majority of decisions being taken locally.

Liz Smith: I have here the letter to *The Herald* in which those important bodies and some others express their deep-seated concern that the public has largely lost confidence in the planning process and that local communities that unite to conserve our most popular natural assets are frequently swept aside in an unequal battle with Government and powerful commercial interests. Does the First Minister accept that that is a serious issue that undermines the heart of local democracy and can be addressed only if an independent body is involved?

The First Minister: I, too, have the letter in front of me. I will be very happy for the Government to

engage with the organisations that are signatories to it to discuss with them how we can further improve the planning system.

I have two points to make. First, the vast majority of planning decisions are already made locally by those who are best placed to consider in what circumstances planning consent should or should not be granted. I think that that is right and proper. Secondly, planning benefits greatly from being part of a democratic process. It is informed at all stages by high-quality, objective and professional advice.

I am happy to discuss the points that have been raised with all the organisations concerned, but I do not think that we should take the planning system out of the democratic process. I think that that would be a mistake.

Christine Grahame (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP): Does the First Minister share my concern that if the proposal were to become a reality, that democracy would be removed? For me, there is no greater test of democratic accountability than the ballot box. If people are unhappy about local decisions, they can take it out on their councillors or, indeed, on us.

The First Minister: I generally agree with that point, but that is not to say that we cannot improve the planning process further. This Government has been working to do that over the past number of years, and I am sure that there is still work to be done

There is an important point of principle here, which is that there needs to be democratic accountability in the planning process, as there does in any other aspect of Government policy. That is the principle that we need to start with. Within that, of course we should look at where we can make further improvements.

Roderick Campbell (North East Fife) (SNP): The published letter refers rather vaguely to improvements to existing planning procedures, including

"potentially ... the creation of a body or process that is truly independent of government",

without providing any detail on the proposal. Some of the concerns might be alleviated by the publication of an options paper on the creation of an environmental court. What is the First Minister's position on that?

The First Minister: As Rod Campbell candidly and rightly says, no great detail is provided on the proposal that is made in the letter. As he will be aware, in our manifesto we committed to consulting on an environmental court, and we will publish an options paper on an environmental court or tribunal later in 2015.

We have already made significant improvements to ensure that we have the appropriate structures in place to protect our environment. Those improvements include changes to environmental regulation and planning policy, as well as the changes to the civil court system that we made through the Courts Reform (Scotland) Act 2014.

Elaine Smith (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab): Given that the planning system is not wholly independent of government, does the First Minister agree that it is hugely important that the views of local people are taken into account by the Government when it takes final decisions on planning applications?

The First Minister: I think that there is a real debate to be had about whether the planning process should be entirely independent of government, because of the points that I have already made about democratic accountability. That might well be a debate that Parliament wants to have—it is a legitimate debate, but there are some big issues at stake in it.

As regards Elaine Smith's point about the views of local people, of course I believe that local people's views are important. That is why I think that it is right that, rather than being made by national Government, the majority of planning decisions are made locally by people who are best placed in local areas to decide in what circumstances it is right to grant planning consent for a particular project and in what circumstances it is not. We want to continue to make sure that there is that local accountability as well as the overall democratic accountability that I have spoken about.

John Scott (Ayr) (Con): The First Minister may well be aware of a planning decision in Ayrshire that was famously known as the plot 9 decision, in which every councillor on the regulatory panel voted against the proposal for Ayr seafront, but it was overturned by Scottish ministers. If she is looking for an example of local democracy not being allowed to have its head, she could find no finer example in holding her ministers to account.

The First Minister: There will be circumstances in which planning decisions are taken nationally. That does not change what I said, which was that the vast majority are taken locally. When decisions fall to be taken nationally, it is vital that they are in line with the proper planning considerations, which will have been the case in the circumstances that John Scott cites. That is what is required, and it will have been done in that case. I will be happy to ask the minister who is responsible planning discuss to circumstances of the case with John Scott directly.

Kevin Stewart (Aberdeen Central) (SNP): There is outrage in Aberdeen about the decision to proceed with the Marischal Square development against the feelings of people of that great city. How can we ensure that people's views are taken into account when councillors and others take decisions on planning? In this case, the people's views are not being listened to.

The First Minister: I certainly think that Aberdeen City Council could do with a few lessons on taking account of the views of local people. It has appeared to be the case that it wants to ignore those views whenever possible.

As well as all the checks and balances and safeguards in the planning process that rightly exist, it is open to people when they get the opportunity at the ballot box to make their views known. Perhaps that is what people in Aberdeen should choose to do.

Fairtrade Fortnight 2015

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Elaine Smith): The next item of business is a members' business debate on motion S4M-12297, in the name of George Adam, on Fairtrade fortnight 2015. The debate will be concluded without any question being put.

Motion debated,

That the Parliament notes that Fairtrade Fortnight 2015 takes place from 23 February to 8 March; further notes that 2015 marks the second anniversary of Scotland achieving Fair Trade Nation status and that this will be celebrated during the fortnight; congratulates everyone who has expressed their commitment to fair trade and who will be holding events across the country; supports the work of the Scottish Fair Trade Forum in promoting what it believes is the deepening and widening of awareness and purchasing of fairly-traded goods and in hosting fair trade visitors to Scotland from the Dominican Republic, Malawi and Mauritius; notes the view that, in order to honour its Fair Trade Nation status. Scotland needs to continue to lead the global campaign to make trade fair; celebrates the achievements of Fair Trade businesses in Paisley and across Scotland in what it sees as them leading the way in showing that trade can be mutually beneficial for producers and consumers, and welcomes moves to encourage public bodies and private business to procure fairly-traded products.

12:32

George Adam (Paisley) (SNP): It is with great pride that I am once again leading a debate during Fairtrade fortnight, in which I will talk about some of the work that we have done in the cross-party group on fair trade, which I co-chair with James Kelly.

During last year's debate, we said that Scotland becoming a fair trade nation two years ago was not a destination or the end; rather, it was only the start of the process for our counties, communities and towns that became fair trade counties, communities and towns. There is much more that we can do and much work that still needs to be done.

The fair trade premium provides opportunities for education and fair pay for families and communities throughout the world. Some of those were explained to us in the various events that we have had this year. The cross-party group on fair trade has discussed many fair trade issues in the past year, such as the recently launched Bala Sport goods. Members may not be aware that Bala produces footballs and rugby balls in Pakistan, as do many large manufacturers. Many members will be aware of my love of our national game and my support for St Mirren Football Club. I believe that there is still much that we can do in sport, which is a perfect example of something that gives access to young people and everyone else to get involved in the fair trade movement. Sports kits and equipment are produced in countries that would benefit from the fair trade premium.

This year, we met Bala, which explained to us what its name means. In Spanish, it means "bullet"; in Punjabi, it means "strength"; and in Gaelic, it means "ball". I assume that "strength" in Punjabi means that, working together, we can make a difference, and that the Spanish "bullet" comes from the skilful feet of a Spanish player—obviously not a Scottish one. In Scotland, we just call a ball a ball. That is our way and our lot in life.

Bala is a brand new co-operative organisation that was set up to expand the availability and use of ethically produced Fairtrade sports balls. Around 70 per cent of the world's hand-stitched balls are made in Pakistan, and an estimated 40,000 workers are involved in that.

Bala's idea is to ensure that we can, at every level in Scotland, get access to that type of sports equipment. It has equipment that is FIFA approved. One of the most important things that we can do is encourage our football clubsamateur, junior and professional-to take up the idea of using these balls. That can be difficult because, as we are all aware, the Scottish Professional Football League will sponsorship deals already. However, we have to consider what is the correct thing to do, ethically. If we are truly a fair trade nation, we have to think about that.

Bala has a share offer at the moment. It is looking for a funding target of £150,000, which will enable it to mainstream its sports equipment in sports and recreation throughout Scotland. A share investment can be as little as £50, with a maximum per individual of £25,000, and the minimum age of a shareholder is 11. This is a perfect example of how we can make fair trade relevant to young people and others throughout Scotland.

We have heard some difficult stories over the years, and there is still a lot of work to be done. Last night, I hosted an event of the Scottish Fairtrade Foundation, which was attended by the Cabinet Secretary for Culture, Europe and External Affairs, Fiona Hyslop, and visitors from nations that are at various stages of fair trade development. One of those individuals was Pamela L'Intelligent from Mauritius, who is a 44year-old woman who has worked in manufacturing since her early teens. She started at the age of 13 and worked for three to four years as a helper before being trained as a sewing machinist. Her problem was that some of the equipment and processes that were used where she worked caused her health difficulties. The fair trade premium for her was that she was able to work in an ethical environment with protective equipment.

She worked with Craft Aid, which is a non-profitmaking organisation that is dedicated to the welfare of disabled people. It was established in 1982 and its main objective is to provide paid employment for disabled people and rehabilitate them into society.

Fair trade cotton is a big issue. Since 2005, it has been available in the United Kingdom. Cotton products that are licensed as Fairtrade products are on sale in the high street and online. However, less than 1 per cent of cotton products in the UK carry the Fairtrade cotton mark. The potential for growth is considerable. When we meet people such as Pamela, we understand how much of a difference the fair trade premium makes.

We also met Charles Chavi, who is employed by the Kasinthula Cane Growers Association in Malawi. He has worked with it for seven years and is the trust administrator, ensuring that everything on the fair trade side of the association's members' business is adhered to. He explained to us how much of a difference the fair trade premium can make to the communities that he knows about with regard to access to education, giving young people the opportunity to do something different and increasing literacy levels in low income areas, which makes a difference to people's lives. Only when we hear those stories do we understand the difference that fair trade can make.

We also met some visitors from Palestine. Taysir and Mohammad told us that they are just farmers. They are not politicians. They have to deal with fair trade issues when it comes to getting their product abroad, but they also have to deal with other issues that are not of their making. That discussion explained to me the difference that fair trade has made. They are just farmers; they are not politicians.

Scotland continues on our journey with fair trade, creating the type of world that we all want to live in—a fair world that is one of opportunity. There are many challenges but, together, we can work towards that future, not just because it is the right thing to do but because we will do ourselves and future generations an injustice if we do not give this a try and make the most of this opportunity.

Nelson Mandela said:

"Overcoming poverty is not a gesture of charity. It is an act of justice."

Let us remember the words of Nelson Mandela and see what we can do to make the world a better place.

12:39

Patricia Ferguson (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab): I congratulate George Adam on securing the debate and on hosting the reception that we all enjoyed so much last night, particularly given that, on this issue, there is such consensus in the chamber.

If we ever needed evidence of the fragility of farms and farming in the developing world, we need only look at the situation in Malawi following the recent devastating flooding that occurred there. Many farmers lost their homes and are struggling to bring their land back into use. With the planting season almost over, those farmers face a precarious future, not knowing whether they will be able to plant crops this year or whether those crops, if planted, will flourish. That, however, is the risk for farmers throughout the developing world. It makes the fair trade premium even more important to them and it makes our support for the principle of fair trade vital.

It is two years since we became a fair trade nation, but that did not happen overnight, nor should it have done. It was the work and commitment of volunteers over the years that led churches, schools, universities, towns, cities and workplaces to be recognised as supporters of fair trade and to take the issue forward.

I must admit that, in 2005, when I first suggested the idea of Scotland becoming a fair trade nation to the then First Minister, Jack McConnell, I had some doubts as to whether it was a realistic proposition, but by the time the Scotlish Fair Trade Forum was launched with Scotlish Executive funding in 2007, I was sure that we could do it collectively.

The experience of farmers in Malawi tells us that we cannot rest on our laurels and I am glad—indeed, delighted—that the current Scottish Government has committed itself to the cause over the years of its time in office and has continued that funding.

Over the years, the number of items carrying the Fairtrade logo has increased significantly and it is now commonplace to find florists offering Fairtrade roses and other flowers and even jewellers selling items that have been crafted from fairly traded gold.

In the debate on fair trade in 2014, I informed the chamber of the Malawi rice challenge, which was launched by the Lord Provost of Glasgow. That project operated on the basis that, for every 90kg of rice sold, a rice farmer in Malawi would be able to send their child to secondary school for a year. I reported, too, that the target that the Lord Provost set was to sell enough rice to send 12 young people to school. I can advise colleagues that, due to the generosity of the staff and

members of Glasgow City Council and the arm's-length external organisations, not 12 but 24 children in Malawi were able to be supported through school—a real achievement.

This year, Glasgow City Council is continuing its promotion of Malawi rice, but it is now going further. The council will focus on Fairtrade footballs. George Adam has quite rightly drawn Bala to our attention. The council is combining its promotion of fair trade and healthy living and the continuing legacy of the Commonwealth games.

As we have heard, the footballs in question made by Bala are hand-stitched in factories in Pakistan and are made to FIFA international standards. No child labour is involved and the fair trade credentials are certified by a third party. Unfortunately, I understand that the Scottish Football Association is already engaged in a commercial deal that means that it cannot currently use Bala, but hopefully it might do so in the future.

The council will purchase and has purchased 100 of those footballs, which are branded with the logos of Fairtrade, the Commonwealth games legacy and Glasgow's 2015 green year. The balls will be used at sporting events across the city, many of them in schools, and in the Glasgow Malawi cup, which is to be held in June. Members who attended the reception last night will have seen the footballs and rugby balls on display. A supply of non-branded balls will also be available for purchase—I should say that they are very competitively priced.

Footballs have been sourced from Bala, which George Adam spoke about. It is a co-operative organisation that has had start-up assistance from the council's co-operative Glasgow business development fund. The balls were officially launched at Hampden stadium last week.

Last year, I suggested that the Parliament shop needed to consider whether it should do more to promote fair trade. I am very pleased to note that the situation has improved. New Fairtrade chocolate has been commissioned, as have some other interesting items, but I do think that we could still go a little bit further.

I thank George Adam once again for organising the debate and I look forward to supporting fair trade for many years to come.

12:44

Gordon MacDonald (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP): I, too, thank my colleague George Adam for securing the debate.

In my constituency, a number of communities, schools and churches have achieved fair trade status. I will highlight some of them. Stenhouse

primary school achieved fair trade status in 2010. Since the formation of the school's fair trade committee, it has introduced healthy fair trade snacks in its tuck shop and fair trade tea and coffee in the staffroom. It has also organised fair trade coffee mornings and produced awareness-raising posters in and around the school.

Juniper Green community council recently received a certificate of appreciation from the One World Shop in acknowledgement of the sales of fair trade products at its monthly community market. At last Saturday's market, the local primary school children displayed their fair trade project, with many of the children taking part in the community council's bookmark competition to promote the subject.

In Balerno, the parish church and St Mungo's church are recognised as fair trade churches. The three schools in the village, Dean Park primary, Harmeny school and Balerno community high school are fair trade schools. There are also a number of fair trade retailers, including Scotmid, which was the first Scottish retailer to stock fair trade products.

For a number of years, the Balerno fair trade group has organised an annual craft and coffee morning; this year's event takes place this Saturday at St Joseph's and the Ogston hall. In previous years, the craft stalls have included wall hangings from Africa, jewellery from Columbia, rice from Malawi, bags from Nepal and embroidery from Palestine. My personal favourite is the fair trade wine stall and the opportunity to taste the products.

The hard work of all the organisations in Balerno in promoting fair trade in the community resulted in it being recognised as a fair trade village in 2013 by the Fairtrade Foundation.

Why is promoting fair trade important? In developing countries, independent small farmers who work their own land and market their produce through a local co-operative are paid a price that covers the costs of sustainable production; they are also paid a premium that producers can invest in development. By being able to exceed their production costs, they can improve their lives by having access to better education, healthcare and more nutritious food.

We also have the fair trade producers. For example, most fair trade tea is grown on estates. The primary concerns for the workers employed on tea plantations are fair wages and decent working conditions. If the producers agree to pay decent wages, guarantee the right to join trade unions, provide good housing where relevant, maintain health and safety as well as environmental standards and ensure that no child labour or forced labour can occur, in return they

are awarded contracts that allow for long-term planning and sustainable production practices where they can receive partial advance payments when requested.

As a result, fair trade benefits workers and communities by spreading profits more equitably and stimulating the local economy. Profits are often reinvested into community projects, such as health clinics, childcare and education.

We can all help the fair trade movement not only by supporting local organisations during Fairtrade fortnight, but by stimulating demand by asking for fair trade products in shops, cafes and restaurants. We can also spread the fair trade message among our family, friends and colleagues and, as a result, assist in a small way in supporting communities in developing countries.

Edinburgh is a fair trade city and Scotland has been recognised as one of the first fair trade nations. That highlights that we, the people of Scotland, share a vision of being a good global citizen and are committed to playing our part in addressing poverty.

12:49

Annabel Goldie (West Scotland) (Con): I am delighted to speak in this debate and I, too, thank George Adam for lodging the motion.

Fair trade is unusual in that it works both in theory and in practice. It pledges fair prices for producers in developing countries and gives back power to producers and consumers. Often, many of the farmers and workers who supply necessities such as food and clothing-the things that we take for granted—are left without those self-same necessities. Those producers—the farmers and workers-repeatedly work for poor wages, can be badly treated and can be fired for daring to complain, and fair trade offers vital protection and support. Indeed, some producers have said that it would be impossible to continue farming without it. Fair trade is what it says on the tin; it is about making trade fair and ensuring decent wages and working conditions for producers and workers. In fact, it is a win-win situation for producers and workers, because it means that they can control their futures and lead a life with the dignity and respect to which everyone is entitled.

Consumers have a vital role to play in this. After all, fair trade consumers have the power to change and influence communities around the world every day, and I am delighted that our own Parliament shop stocks some fair trade products. I have with me a bar of Scottish Parliament fair trade chocolate that, to save me from myself, I shall donate to Mr Adam in a gesture of fair trade solidarity.

How many of us know where the fair trade products in our stores are, and do we always remember to buy them? I could do a lot better—and I suspect I am not alone. George Adam made some very interesting suggestions for expanding awareness of fair trade through sport and the involvement of young people. Indeed, young people are important in all this, and I am delighted to welcome to the gallery pupils from St Patrick's primary school in Coatbridge. It is lovely to have them here, and I hope that they are enjoying the debate and are finding the subject interesting.

In my area, Renfrewshire achieved fair trade zone status in February 2009 after a campaign led by Renfrewshire Council, local fair trade groups, schools, churches and businesses. Renfrewshire also has a fair trade steering group, which was set up to increase awareness of fair trade across Renfrewshire. I should at this point mention Rainbow Turtle, which is an important retailer of fair trade products.

Even before that, in May 2007, my home village of Bishopton become the first village in Renfrewshire to be awarded fair trade village status. Not even Mr Adam can eclipse that local achievement, which recognised the hard work and commitment of local people in doing what they could to help. Now Paisley, Renfrew, Johnstone, Lochwinnoch and Kilbarchan, all of which are in Renfrewshire, have achieved fair trade status. That is a very useful indicator and should act as a very useful encouragement to other communities with regard to what can be achieved when there is a will and desire to support this tremendous initiative. Indeed, as Patricia Ferguson and others have pointed out, Scotland became a fair trade nation in February 2013.

We are all consumers, which means that everyone can do something to support fair trade, and Fairtrade fortnight provides an ideal opportunity to show our support to producers and workers around the world. We can all play a part and get involved in Fairtrade fortnight by buying or consuming fair trade products, safe in the knowledge that every fair trade product purchased goes towards helping farmers and workers in some of the poorest parts of the world. It gives them real support, real encouragement and real guidance and help for a more positive and sustainable future.

12:53

David Torrance (Kirkcaldy) (SNP): I thank George Adam for bringing this debate to Parliament and for hosting last night's reception, and I welcome this opportunity to speak about fair trade and Fairtrade fortnight 2015.

In celebrating Scotland's second anniversary as a fair trade nation, I want to highlight some of the work that is being done in Scotland and in my Kirkcaldy constituency to promote fair trade and to encourage public bodies, businesses, families and individuals to purchase fair trade products. According to the World Trade Organization, world trade has grown by a yearly average of 5.3 per cent over the past 20 years, and that flourishing global trade has led to an increase in merchandise such as bananas, sugar, coffee and cocoa being imported from developing countries. Now that we consume those items every day, we as responsible citizens and consumers need to ask where these products have come from and who has produced them, and to think about the conditions in which they have been produced.

By fostering a relationship between consumers in the developed world and producers in developing countries, the Fairtrade Foundation aims to spread that very message. The Fairtrade mark indicates that a product includes ingredients that were produced mostly by small-scale farming organisations. Those organisations must also apply Fairtrade social. economic and environmental standards as set out by Fairtrade International, Organizations and compliance with those regulations is checked on a regular basis.

Why are those standards of such great importance? They ensure that farmers are paid enough to sustain a living for them and their families. In many African countries, smallholder food producers are the backbone of the agricultural sector and grow 70 per cent of all produce, so securing a decent livelihood for them is essential. Apart from income stability, fair trade promotes workers' rights, environmental sustainability and democratic governance among co-operatives.

The Scottish Fair Trade Forum, which is mentioned in George Adam's motion, engages with the public in our country on the issue of fair trade. Established in 2007 by campaigners, Scotland-based non-governmental organisations and the Scottish Government, the forum's campaign has been a great success. Fair trade town groups in Scotland are continuously growing. Looking at shoppers throughout Scotland, the schoolchild who wears a fair trade cotton uniform and the many fair trade town groups, it is clear that the forum's work has made an incredible impact.

I will highlight a few fair trade initiatives in my constituency of Kirkcaldy. A local school, St Andrew's RC high school, has established a fair trade committee. The pupils have spoken out against unethical clothing, and they decided to launch a fair trade cotton hoodies project. Believing that they have the ability to make a

change, the young people from that school sourced hoodies from Epona Clothing, which is a company that has helped more than 4,000 farmers by guaranteeing a fair and adequate price for their cotton. The students' eagerness to engage with the fair trade ethos is truly inspiring, and is forging a more informed generation of consumers.

Greener Kirkcaldy, which is a community organisation in my area, has been extremely active in promoting fair trade. In its eco shop, located at the Kirkcaldy High Street hub, the organisation sells fair trade staples including tea, coffee, sugar and chocolate, along with other fair trade products. To celebrate this year's Fairtrade fortnight, it is offering refreshments to curious customers who would like to try some Fairtrade products. In conjunction, the organisation is providing information and trying to convince other local businesses and organisations to switch to fair trade. It is also organising a free screening tomorrow of the film "Fairtrade Matters" in the High Street hub.

Although the examples that I have mentioned show how far we have come as a fair trade nation, a lot still needs to be done. Recognising the fact that only 1 per cent of cotton products in the UK carry a Fairtrade mark, and that the on-going price wars have resulted in a 40 per cent decrease in UK retail banana prices, we must acknowledge that further awareness needs to be created. Paying the full value of those products and further enhancing working conditions must remain a priority.

Despite those challenges, I am certain that Scotland will continue to be a leading advocate in the fair trade campaign and educate purchasers throughout the country to make simple changes by buying fair trade produce.

12:58

James Kelly (Rutherglen) (Lab): I am delighted to participate in this members' business debate, and I congratulate George Adam, my coconvener of the cross-party group on fair trade, on bringing the debate to the chamber.

There can be no doubt that, if the measure of success in what one seeks to achieve in life, as in politics, is making a difference, fair trade can be designated a tangible success. From the impact of fair trade on farmers, producers and workers in the countries that produce fair trade products, it is clear that fair trade has made a real difference and has really grown since the concept first took off.

The test for us in Scotland is to measure the difference that we have made in encouraging fair trade with such countries. The Scottish Fair Trade Forum has been the driver for much of our success. The forum was initiated in January 2007,

and I pay tribute to those, including my colleague Patricia Ferguson, who were involved in the initial discussions.

The forum's director, Martin Rhodes, carries out work to educate people about fair trade and launches successful campaigns, and it is clear that the forum has made a difference. Part of that has involved working closely with the cross-party group on fair trade, which George Adam mentioned. He and Patricia Ferguson mentioned the Bala football campaign, which was the focus of recent discussion at the cross-party group. I hope that that discussion helped to raise the campaign's profile. Patricia Ferguson gave an example of how the campaign has been marketed and supported by Glasgow City Council.

At the cross-party group, we have had a number of challenging discussions on, for example, trademarks, which David Torrance mentioned. Getting trademarks for fair trade established and accrediting people to use them is a big issue. I remember a very interesting discussion at the cross-party group when we were challenged on whether all that is being handled properly.

As Annabel Goldie said, the test in Scotland is how we can make a difference in our local areas. Like other members, I pay tribute to those who have made a difference in local communities. I am delighted to say that Rutherglen and Cambuslang have been accredited with fair trade status, which is down to the work of the local fair trade group and the churches and schools that participate in it.

I highlight in particular the work of Stonelaw high school, which has one of the most successful fair trade groups in the country. It started with a £100 grant and has raised more than £180,000 from fair trade products. I pay tribute to Isabel Gilchrist, the teacher who has been with the group since the start. The group has been recognised twice in the past year with community and national awards. Its selling of more than £180,000-worth of fair trade goods shows the difference that promoting fair trade locally can make and how the work that local people do links to helping farmers, producers and workers in the countries that participate in the schemes.

Again, I congratulate George Adam on bringing the motion to the chamber and give great credit to all the groups in my constituency and throughout Scotland that work tirelessly on behalf of fair trade.

13:02

The Minister for Business, Energy and Tourism (Fergus Ewing): I congratulate George Adam on lodging the motion—I believe that he had a similar motion on the topic a year ago—and on the work done by him and his colleagues on the cross-party group on fair trade, to which James

Kelly rightly referred and which plays a major part in the Scottish Parliament's proceedings. Mr Adam is to be congratulated on his work on the issue, as are all other members who are taking it forward.

Mr Adam is, of course, a denizen of Paisley and an enthusiastic supporter of all matters relating to Paisley, including its football team. I was surprised to notice that it took him as long as one minute and 24 seconds to refer to St Mirren Football Club. I am sure that he will be cheered by being able to consume, courtesy of Ms Goldie, the gift of a bar of chocolate the next time he supports the team on the terraces.

On 25 February 2013, the then Minister for External Relations and International Development announced that Scotland had achieved fair trade nation status. That followed the report "Can Scotland call itself a Fair Trade Nation?", which was submitted by the Scottish Fair Trade Forum and considered by an independent panel of experts. The forum had been awarded a total of £787,000 since 2007 by the Scottish Government to take forward the campaign and it was awarded a further £442,000 up to and including 2017 to build support for fair trade across all sections of Scottish society.

We were—rightly—prompted to action by the Scottish Fair Trade Forum, and the Scottish Government and Scottish Parliament have responded to that call. The question that should be asked is: "What does fair trade nation status mean for Scotland?" Being awarded that status demonstrates our commitment to playing our part in making a difference for some of the world's most vulnerable people, as various members have rightly described.

In supporting the fair trade campaign, the people of Scotland have shown that we are a caring nation that is determined to do what it can to see that workers in the developing world are paid a fair price for their goods so that they can shape their futures and those of their families for the better.

Many members have referred to areas achieving the status of a fair trade town. I have been advised that, over the past 12 months, fair trade status has been achieved by Kirriemuir, Stonehaven, Wishaw, Aberlour, Bearsden, Milngavie, Elgin, Uddingston and Fauldhouse. I apologise to any town that have I inadvertently omitted.

The cause has gained traction across the country and most communities are positively engaging with it. Reference was made to St Patrick's—a school from your constituency, Presiding Officer—although the schoolchildren rightly chose to leave before this part of proceedings. About 200 schools have participated

in fair trade, and that is the crux of matters. As far as I can see—from being in possession of a six-year-old child—children are instinctively keen on learning more about the world and about those who are less fortunate than us. The work that is done in schools by their teachers, with the support of parents, is therefore to be commended and is perhaps the most important of all. The churches' work should also be recognised.

Over the past eight years, awareness of fair trade has grown among people in Scotland, to a rate of 87 per cent in 2013—that is a very high level. That awareness is proof positive that this is not just a theoretical, paper cause, but something that has ignited a spark of interest throughout the country, based on a sense of decency.

Patricia Ferguson made a point about the Malawi floods; we have provided £150,000 for the Malawi floods response. In response to Mr Adam's rather prolonged reference to footballs, I can say that Mr Yousaf has met Bala, and we understand that 100 fair trade rugby balls have been purchased for the Milan expo event on 27 March. That is positive.

Many members have referred to events in their constituencies. In my constituency, the Inverness Fairtrade Group has been working extremely hard during Fairtrade fortnight to promote fair trade in the area by organising and supporting events including coffee mornings.

What we did yesterday was good, but what we will do tomorrow is what counts. The excellent support across the Parliament for the fair trade cause demonstrates that it is in good hands and has not been neglected, as it has been taken up actively by all members. Irrespective of our views on related matters, we agree that we can all support and unite in the cause of fair trade and use the powers, resources and opportunities that we have in Scotland to try to make the world a fairer place.

13:08

Meeting suspended.

14:30

On resuming—

Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body Question Time

Postage Provision

1. Christine Grahame (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body for what reason there has been no uplift in capped postage provision since 2009 given the increase of 59 per cent and 77 per cent in stamp costs, and whether it considers that this reduces members' ability to correspond with their constituents. (S4O-04092)

Linda Fabiani (Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body): We considered the issue fairly recently. There has not been an uplift in the postage and printing provision, which is £5,500. For a couple of reasons, we consider that sum to be sufficient to enable members to correspond with their constituents adequately. First, new technologies allow members to correspond in different and more effective ways, including via email. Secondly, in each of the past five years, more than 60 per cent of members spent less than the capped postage and printing provision.

Christine Grahame: I cannot speak for other members, but I know that I have run out of my provision. The capped limit at Westminster, which has been uplifted every year, is more than £8,500; there is also a staffing budget of £137,000, which is double our budget of £61,000. That concerns me not just because of the number of staff that we can employ—I can employ 1.75 staff—but because of the level of payment for our staff. This has nothing to do with MSPs' salaries.

Will the SPCB look at the funding that we have to do our job properly and pay our staff properly?

Linda Fabiani: Obviously, I cannot comment on what happens at Westminster; I can comment only on the management that we in the SPCB take of our Parliament in Scotland.

I want to make it plain that the question concerns a completely separate issue from that of the members support allowance and that of staff salaries. All that we are talking about today, relative to the question, is the capped printing and postage provision. As I said, we discussed the issue recently and feel that there is no reason to upgrade that particular provision at present.

School Visits (Remote and Rural Schools)

2. Mary Scanlon (Highlands and Islands) (Con): To ask the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body what assistance it gives to school

pupils from remote and rural areas to visit the Parliament. (S4O-04061)

Liz Smith (Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body): I know that the member will acknowledge that it is everyone's responsibility to ensure that we maximise every opportunity for everyone, including young people, to see their Parliament in action, no matter where they are based.

Before I address the specific point, it might be helpful if I update members on what the Parliament is currently doing in this area. In addition to webcasting and the archiving of the business of Parliament online, staff liaise with schools about how they can best get involved. That might involve a visit to Holyrood, but it can also be delivered in the local community. For example, visits by staff and MSPs to schools are an important part of the successful Parliament days initiative, and we have also offered travel subsidies for schools to see committee meetings in action in local towns and cities.

Our outreach programme of education sessions in school as an alternative to a visit here is a very popular option. Between 10,000 and 11,000 pupils each year come through the outreach programme, and a similar number of visits come into Holyrood through the inward programme. The outreach programme is taken up across the country, but particularly in areas where it is more difficult to arrange travel, such as the Highlands, the west of Scotland, Aberdeenshire and so on. The SPCB has improved the range of resources that are offered to young people, particularly online but also through a series of colourful and imaginative publications and games that are all available free of charge.

On the member's specific point, in relation to the meeting in Inverness at the start of February of the Public Audit Committee—a committee in which I know that the member takes an interest—local schools were offered a contribution towards their travel costs along with a school visit, should they wish to attend the meeting.

Subsidised travel has been offered for specific events that take place in Holyrood, such as on Friday, when 42 pupils attended a day-long event for higher English students, which examined the use of language in the Scottish Parliament.

I hope that the member will understand that extending the subsidies to many more schools is a complex issue and would, obviously, involve considerable extra costs.

Mary Scanlon: I thank Liz Smith for that very comprehensive answer.

I remind the corporate body that the committees of this Parliament visited the rest of Scotland much more in the first and second sessions of the Parliament than they do now. In fact, as a member of the Public Audit Committee, I know that when we visited Inverness in February, a committee had not sat in Inverness for 10 years. We invited the pupils from Wick high school to Inverness, but they were in the middle of their prelims.

Neil Mackintosh, the modern studies teacher from Wick high school, tried unsuccessfully to get pupils to visit the Parliament last year, at a cost of nearly £70 per person, not to mention five hours of travel each way. That was prohibitive, which made this Parliament inaccessible to pupils from Caithness.

I appreciate what is happening with webcasts and online, but given the exceptional costs in money and time, will the corporate body continue to monitor this issue and perhaps even consult remote and island schools to see what can be done to further improve their access to this Parliament?

Liz Smith: Yes, absolutely. The member makes a very important point about that. In one sense, we have been the victim of our own success. More and more pupils want to come to the Parliament, which in itself is a very good thing, but at the same time there are complexities when it comes to the criteria by which we decide what to pay and what not to pay. We undertake to monitor the situation.

Lobbying Register

3. John Wilson (Central Scotland) (Ind): To ask the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body how it will engage on the proposal to establish a register of lobbying. (S4O-04093)

Liz Smith (Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body): I thank the member for a question that has particular importance at the current time. The member will be aware that the Scottish Government responded to Neil Findlay's member's bill proposal for a lobbying register by committing to legislate to give effect to the proposal in this parliamentary session under rule 9.14.13 of the standing orders.

The member will also know that the Standards, Procedures and Public Appointments Committee recently published its lobbying inquiry report, which sets out a model for a register of lobbying activity and recommends that that is the basis for the Government's legislation.

The SPCB has taken a keen interest in the potential resource implications of a register for both the Parliament and the Commissioner for Ethical Standards in Public Life in Scotland. As a result, the SPCB has emphasised to the Scottish Government the importance of closely consulting the SPCB and its supporting officials throughout the process of assessing the additional work required and estimating the associated costs.

John Wilson: Can the member clarify how the monitoring of the proposed register of lobbying is intended to be administered, thus ensuring that there is a maximum level of transparency of the register for the public, so that they can have confidence in any register that is established within this Parliament?

Liz Smith: Let us be absolutely clear about this. There are really two issues here. One is the political issue, which is a matter for the Standards, Procedures and Public Appointments Committee. That is an important matter and the committee will take advice from the member who proposed the original bill and the Scottish Government. The second issue is the implications for things such as information technology and the costs of parliamentary officers' time, which is a slightly different issue. The SPCB is very clear that we have an obligation to advise on that basis but not to get involved in the political debate.

The member makes a good point about transparency. It is up to the SPCB to be utterly transparent when it comes to our advice on the administration of this, but it is entirely a matter for the committee and its convener to consider the political implications.

Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab): It is almost two years since the Scottish Government took over my proposed bill, and despite my continually asking when the legislation will come forward, there is no legislation as yet. I wrote to Joe FitzPatrick a few weeks back and asked for the timetable for the bill, but no timetable was forthcoming.

Will the corporate body now approach the Scottish Government and ask for a timetable for the bill? Clearly, there are implications for the corporate body.

Liz Smith: The answer is no, because I do not think that it is a competent matter for the SPCB. Our role is to ensure that the administration of the process is undertaken correctly. The political issue must go through the Standards, Procedures and Public Appointments Committee. The matter that is relevant to Neil Findlay's question is for the committee members to decide.

The Deputy Presiding Officer (John Scott): That concludes questions to the SPCB. I thank all those who took part.

Protecting Public Services and Boosting Scotland's Economy

The Deputy Presiding Officer (John Scott): The next item of business is a debate on S4M-12521, in the name of John Swinney, on protecting public services and boosting Scotland's economy.

14:40

The Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Constitution and Economy (John Swinney): I am delighted to open the debate and to have the opportunity to set out the Scottish Government's alternative approach to the austerity agenda that the United Kingdom Government is pursuing and which is such a strong feature of the Westminster political debate.

Our proposed approach balances the need for sustainable public financing with ensuring that public services are protected. Scotland's economic recovery is well established: our economy has grown continuously for two years; gross domestic product is above pre-recession levels; and the number of people in employment is at an all-time high. The economic outlook is also the strongest it has been for many years. Yesterday, the Fraser of Allander institute revised upwards its forecast for the Scottish economy: it expects growth to be 2.6 per cent in 2015 and employment to rise by 51,000.

Willie Rennie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD): Is the Deputy First Minister about to praise the United Kingdom Government's economic policy? I am sorry to pre-empt what I know he is about to say.

John Swinney: What I was going to do was read the next line of the carefully crafted argument that I have to share with Parliament, which goes as follows: the growth has come in spite of, rather than because of, the United Kingdom Government's austerity programme. I hope that that meets Mr Rennie's expectations, which is always something that I am keen to ensure happens.

The serious answer to Willie Rennie's point is that the growth that we are seeing follows years of slow growth in the United Kingdom. In 2010, the return to economic growth was predicted for 2012, 2013 and 2014. However, it was not until 2014 that we began to see the growth emerging after two years of it being poorer in comparison. Our recovery has been relatively weak compared with some of our G7 partners.

Alex Johnstone (North East Scotland) (Con): Would the cabinet secretary not concede that the

countries in Europe that followed the policy that he advocated at the time may have done well in the initial phase after the recession but that they are now languishing with some of the lowest growth rates in the western world?

John Swinney: I am making a point about what we see if we look at the sustained investment strategy that could have been pursued by the UK Government, which was not to reduce public expenditure as fast as was proposed and has been executed. We set out, against the original plans of the United Kingdom Government, our total opposition to the one third reduction in public expenditure and capital spend. The UK Government, to be fair, lowered its proposed cut from 33 to 26 per cent as a consequence of the pressure of poor economic performance, and we are beginning to see growth returning to the United Kingdom economy.

My point is that, if the United Kingdom Government had not delivered that accelerated reduction in public spending to begin with but had tempered the reductions, we would have been able to see better growth in the short term, which the evidence supports.

GDP per capita in the United Kingdom remains 2 per cent below the 2008 level. Moreover, families are not seeing the benefits of the recovery as wages are not expected to return to prerecession levels until 2019.

Alex Rowley (Cowdenbeath) (Lab): The Fraser of Allander institute has refreshed its figures, but unemployment figures are still high. Its November 2014 report says:

"It is questionable whether the number of full-time workers will 'ever' reach pre-recession levels. The data point towards a more permanent structural shift towards part-time work and self-employment".

Such work is low paid and much more difficult. Therefore, we are left with a difficulty in tackling inequality.

John Swinney: I broadly accept that analysis. Although the headline employment levels are encouraging, although unemployment is coming down and is below 150,000 for the first time in five years, and although we have a record level of employment, particularly female employment, in Scotland, I accept that beneath those positive headline indicators there are challenges with regard to underemployment, part-time employment and low pay.

That is exactly what the Government's economic strategy, which was set out on Tuesday, is trying to address; it is trying to focus on some of those underlying factors that I know are of significance in improving the Scottish economy's performance and, more important, in providing

individuals in our economy with a more rewarding experience of employment.

Despite five years of austerity, the Chancellor of the Exchequer has failed to meet his deficit or debt targets. In June 2010, he predicted that, this year, the UK would be running a £5 billion budget surplus on the structural current budget and that debt would be falling as a share of GDP. However, the latest forecasts suggest a structural current deficit of almost £50 billion and a continuing rise in debt.

Over the six years to March 2016, the chancellor is likely to borrow £150 billion more than planned in his June 2010 budget, which is the equivalent of almost £2,500 for every person in the UK. That bears out the point that I have made to Mr Johnstone and Mr Rennie that the chancellor is significantly adrift from the predictions that he made at the time.

Gavin Brown (Lothian) (Con): If we followed the Scottish Government's preferred and published approach, when would the deficit be eliminated?

John Swinney: Under our proposals, the deficit would take longer to eliminate and we would borrow more than the chancellor has predicted; however, we would be ensuring the recovery of the public finances by investing in growth in the Scottish economy.

Mr Brown will, as someone who supports a Government that is presiding over such an approach, know that borrowing is a factor and a feature of the management of public expenditure for any Administration that takes it forward. The question is how that borrowing is balanced—and balanced effectively, into the bargain.

Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab): Will the cabinet secretary give way?

John Swinney: Yes, but we will need to make some progress after this.

Jackie Baillie: I will be very brief. In light of his comments, can Mr Swinney confirm that the Scottish Government's view is that we should have full fiscal autonomy?

John Swinney: As Jackie Baillie knows, my belief is that Scotland should be in control of all aspects of our expenditure, our revenue and our economy, because I believe that Scotland should be an independent country. That is the position of the Scottish Government.

When, a few weeks ago, the First Minister set out the Scottish Government's suggested alternative to the UK Government's austerity agenda, she concentrated on the fact that the entire Westminster debate circles around maintaining austerity. However, reducing the

deficit is just one of the many interconnected challenges that we should address; the others include boosting productivity, improving living standards and reducing inequality, which brings us back to the point that Mr Rowley raised with me a moment ago. The deficit needs to be reduced but in a way that does not harm the country's social fabric.

The Scottish Government believes that there is a sustainable alternative to Westminster's obsession with the deficit, and it has outlined an approach that will provide real-terms growth in spending on public services of 0.5 per cent every year from 2016-17 to 2019-20. Compared with current UK Government plans, that approach would permit a further £180 billion of investment in public services across the UK over the next four years and, for Scotland, it would free up additional resources of around £14 billion over the same period for investing in health, education or other parts of our economy.

Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab): I see that Mr Swinney and the First Minister are now promoting the idea that economic policy can tackle inequality. What redistributive policies is the Government going to pursue?

John Swinney: My first act on tax was to implement a redistributive measure that favours those who undertake property transactions at the lower end of the spectrum. I would have thought that Mr Findlay might have welcomed that. I was delighted that his colleagues supported the Government on that initiative in voting to approve a draft order at the Finance Committee just the other day.

Although our approach will mean borrowing slightly more than the UK Government currently plans to borrow, our spending proposal will keep the public finances on a sustainable path and will reduce the deficit as a share of our national income over the next session of Parliament. Protecting infrastructure, education and innovation will support stronger and more sustainable growth in the future, which will help to further reduce national debt as a share of our GDP. That will mean that we can manage to bring the deficit down, while at the same time supporting public services and the important services on which members of the public rely.

We are not alone in advocating a rethink of Westminster's austerity agenda. The director of the National Institute of Economic and Social Research has argued that the idea that further austerity is inevitable, desirable and necessary simply does not add up from an economic perspective.

The Scottish Government's approach is to support growth in a balanced and sustainable way

so that the benefits of economic success are shared by everyone. That approach was set out this week in the Government's economic strategy.

It is well understood that a strong economy is essential in building a fair and wealthy society. However, the Government believes that the reverse is also true: a society that is fair and equitable underpins a strong economy. We believe that equality and cohesion are good for growth and good for individuals. The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development estimated that rising inequality has reduced economic growth in the UK by nearly 9 percentage points between 1990 and 2010. That implies that UK GDP could have been nearly £100 billion higher in 2010—equivalent to £1,600 for every person in the country—if the United Kingdom had been a more equal country.

The evidence is clear: inequality is not only important in itself but vital to creating the conditions to deliver sustainable economic growth over the long term. That is why the Scottish Government's approach will continue to be based on the principle that delivering sustainable growth and addressing long-standing inequalities are reinforcing, and not competing, objectives.

"Scotland's Economic Strategy" sets out an overarching framework for how we aim to achieve a more productive, cohesive and fairer Scotland. We have four priority areas in which we believe that our actions can make a real difference.

First, we want to invest in our people and our infrastructure in a sustainable way, in contrast to the sharp reductions in public expenditure that will be faced on the election of either a Labour or a Conservative Government at the forthcoming general election.

Secondly, we want to foster a culture of innovation and research and development to promote the development of new technologies, products and working methods.

Thirdly, we aim to promote inclusive growth and create opportunities through a fair and inclusive jobs market and through cohesion in the regional economies of Scotland.

Finally, we are looking to promote Scotland on the international stage in order to boost our trade, investment and influence, and to develop the networks for undertaking international business activity, which is central to broadening the export opportunities for companies in Scotland.

We will continue with a range of Government policy interventions that are already helping companies and citizens across the country. Those include maintaining the most competitive business rates scheme in the United Kingdom; investing £11 billion in Scotland's infrastructure, despite

further cuts to our budget; and expanding the level of funded childcare from 475 hours to 600 hours per year to help those with young children to participate in the labour market. We will continue to build on those actions.

Jackie Baillie: Does the cabinet secretary agree, having said that he would support full fiscal autonomy, that that would cost his budget £4 billion a year and 70,000 jobs across the Scottish economy? I remind him that those are not my words, but his.

John Swinney: I do not accept that. The Government believes—I have gone through this point many times with Jackie Baillie before, and I will no doubt have to do so many times again—that, when we have the ability to take the decisive decisions about our economy, to improve productivity and to deliver growth, we enhance the tax revenues and the public finances of Scotland and, as a consequence, we can support and sustain the public services on which people in our country depend. That is a very simple argument for Jackie Baillie to come to terms with.

Jackie Baillie: Will the cabinet secretary take an intervention?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: He is in his final minute.

John Swinney: I will be very happy to deal with interventions in my closing remarks on the debate.

In our approach to inclusive growth, we are also promoting fair work by establishing a fair work convention and encouraging employers, employees and trade unions to share and adopt best practice, including promoting, as the First Minister set out at First Minister's question time today, the application of the living wage across workplaces in Scotland. The Government will continue to lead by example by advancing greater gender equality and ensuring that all staff covered by our own pay policy receive the living wage.

We challenge the UK Government's unfair austerity agenda as it imposes the heaviest burden on the most vulnerable in our society. It is our belief that fairness and prosperity can and must go hand in hand, which is why we endorse an alternative approach that has fairness at its heart, protects critical public services and keeps public finances on a sustainable footing That is supported by our economic strategy for Scotland, which sets out our twin objectives of boosting economic growth and tackling inequality.

I move,

That the Parliament condemns the unfair approach that the UK Government is taking to reductions in public spending and the disproportionate impact that this is having on low-income households; endorses the approach of the Scottish Government, which has fairness at its heart and would see a 0.5% real increase in spending on public services every year from 2016-17 to 2019-20 while continuing to reduce debt over the next parliamentary session; welcomes the additional £180 billion of investment for protecting crucial public services that this will deliver compared with the UK Government's plans; further welcomes the publication of *Scotland's Economic Strategy*, and agrees that reducing inequality is not only important in itself, but is vital to establishing the conditions needed to deliver sustainable economic growth over the long term.

14:55

Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab): In 62 days, the people of Scotland and the United Kingdom face a choice between the Tories' austerity plans, which would take us back to levels of public spending that we have not seen since the 1930s and since before Labour created the national health service, and a Labour Government that will extend the living wage, end zero-hours contracts, balance the books in a fair way and deliver more funding for our NHS.

From the recent Ashcroft poll, it is clear that Labour and the Tories are neck and neck. It is the biggest party that will form the Government—that is a fact. Scotland gets to pick the winner. The more Scottish National Party MPs there are, the fewer Labour MPs there will be. Quite simply, that means that a vote for the SNP lets the Tories get in by the back door.

Mark McDonald (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP): To engage with something substantial that the member said, she talked about the Labour Party's plans to extend the living wage. Given that the Labour Party claims that its plans for the minimum wage would increase that to £8, will she advise us when the minimum wage would rise to £8 and how that would compare with inflationary pressure?

Jackie Baillie: I am happy to tell the member that we will increase the minimum wage substantially. Our plans are centred on making work pay and getting the country working. [Interruption.]

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Order.

Jackie Baillie: I will take no lessons from the SNP, whose MPs sat on their hands during an austerity debate at Westminster yesterday when they had the chance to end Tory austerity. What did they do? Nothing.

John Swinney: Will the member give way?

Jackie Baillie: In a second. [*Interruption*.] There are lots of howls from SNP back benchers, but I will give way in a second—be patient.

I remind SNP members that it was of course SNP MPs who brought down the Labour Government in 1979 by voting with the Tories and that it was SNP MSPs who voted with the Tories from 2007 to 2011 in this Parliament. [Interruption.]

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Order.

Jackie Baillie: Of course, it was Alex Salmond who told us all to vote Liberal at the previous general election, and look where that got us. I will take no lectures from the SNP.

The SNP motion deals with austerity and the Scottish Government's new economic strategy. I will start with the economic strategy document—a glossy and colourful publication that has the lofty aims of growing the economy and reducing inequality. Few people would fundamentally disagree with that, but there is disappointingly little detail about how that would be achieved. What we witness instead is a repeat of targets and commitments that have been given before. For goodness' sake, the SNP has, by my counting, announced the Scottish business development bank five times, which takes recycling to a whole new level.

There is lots about austerity in the strategy, but nothing that tells us how we will achieve growth, investment, jobs and wealth; nothing about new tax powers or fiscal policy; nothing about debt, despite the shocking figures revealed in *The Guardian* about the scale of local government debt; and nothing about the deficit caused by the collapse in oil prices. Those are real challenges that our economy faces, but there is not a word about them in the strategy. It is an economic strategy for an alternate universe.

Gavin Brown: The member would realise, if she had read all the way to page 77 of the strategy document, that the detail and policy direction will be published in the coming months.

Jackie Baillie: I await that with anticipation and great excitement. However, we have had eight years of SNP Government—where has that detail been over that time?

Of course, there is also corporation tax, which Mr Swinney did not mention. The SNP mantra was that it would cut corporation tax by 3p more than the Tories would. We were told that that was not a race to the bottom and not to worry about it, because it would be good for growth. It appears now that it is not so good for growth.

What about air passenger transport duty? That was to be cut and then abolished. I got to the bit of the report that says that the duty will be replaced by a new tax. Who thought about that? Again, there is no detail.

Then we come to double standards: declaring support for the living wage but making no mention of the promised summit on the issue and no mention of the fact that the SNP blocked Labour amendments to the Procurement Reform

(Scotland) Bill that would have required all public sector contractors to pay the living wage. That is just an inconvenient truth.

All Labour members agree that we want a fairer society. However, there is not one redistributive tax policy in the strategy document. There is not one word about a top rate of income tax or anything that deals with income inequality.

A pattern is emerging. We always get warm words from the SNP, but we never get action. Businesses are crying out for practical steps to support them to grow, to access new markets and to have the pipeline of skills available to meet future needs.

I turn to austerity. The scale of the Tory austerity plans is breathtaking. The Office for Budget Responsibility states that the Tories want to return to 1930s levels of public spending. The independent Institute for Fiscal Studies says that the cuts proposed by the Tories are colossal. They would wreck Scotland's public services and our NHS.

Mark McDonald: Will the member give way?

Jackie Baillie: No—I have already given way to Mark McDonald.

That is why Labour MPs voted against Tory austerity plans yesterday and why it is so important that we prevent the Tories from being the largest party after the general election.

The SNP should be ashamed. SNP members dare to come here and lecture us about austerity today. A mere 24 hours ago, they sat on their hands and refused to back Labour in calling for an end to Tory austerity. That is breathtaking hypocrisy and is completely shameless. I look forward to John Swinney's explanation.

John Swinney: I am grateful to the member for giving way. Why did Labour MPs troop through the lobby to vote for the same austerity agenda in the charter for budget responsibility as the Tories went through the lobby to vote for several weeks ago?

Jackie Baillie: Try as Mr Swinney might to spin this, that is just not accurate. Yesterday, the SNP voted—[Interruption.]

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Order.

Jackie Baillie: By sitting on their hands, SNP members voted to continue Tory austerity.

It is increasingly clear that, if we want to stop the Tories' austerity plans, we have to vote the Tories out. It is as simple as that. The SNP proposition that a vote for the SNP will stop austerity is utter nonsense. What the public will get from the SNP is austerity max—not only would the Tory austerity plans be the starting point but the SNP would add to that austerity.

By the cabinet secretary's admission, the SNP wants to end the Barnett formula, which is the mechanism by which we share the United Kingdom's resources. It is like having an insurance policy for when times are bad. Instead, the SNP wants full fiscal autonomy. In short, that is raising Scotland-only taxes for Scotland-only spending, which would mean an end to sharing risks and rewards across the UK and an end to things such as the UK pension.

The proposal is even worse than that. The cost of raising all our own taxes would mean that we needed to raise billions more simply to stand still. We would need to cut billions of pounds from our public services.

Nicola Sturgeon and John Swinney have admitted that scrapping the Barnett formula would cost Scotland £4 billion. Nicola Sturgeon said that in a speech to the Scottish Council for Development and Industry in March 2014 and John Swinney has said similar things in SNP press releases.

Of course, that was before oil revenues fell. The white paper forecast oil at \$113 per barrel but, at the start of 2015, it was at below \$50 per barrel. That would strip at least another £6 billion from the Scottish budget. That is half the funding for our NHS and is the entire schools budget. That would be austerity max—the SNP's austerity max. There has been not one word about what the SNP would do about that. Would it raise taxes or cut services?

Mr Swinney is fond of telling us that he always balances the books, but he is remarkably silent about how he would balance the books when facing such a huge deficit in public revenues. Would he raise more taxes or cut services? Voters deserve to know before the election. I look forward to hearing Mr Swinney's intervention now.

There is no answer. The truth is that the best way to avoid Tory austerity is to vote Labour. The SNP offers austerity max and will let the Tories back into number 10.

Labour's plans for the economy are based on the fact that, when working families prosper, Scotland prospers too. We want to grow the economy and create jobs. We want people to have decent wages and to feel secure at work. We will call time on zero-hours contracts, increase the minimum wage and extend the living wage. Our economic plan will deliver rising living standards, more good jobs and stronger, more balanced growth. We will share the burden fairly, reverse the Tories' tax cuts for millionaires and introduce a mansion tax on houses that are worth more than £2 million to help fund the national health service—in Scotland, that will provide an extra 1,000 nurses.

Every vote for the SNP in May risks another five years of the Tories and their failed austerity policies, but we also know that the SNP's plan to bin Barnett would rip billions from Scottish public services. That is bad for jobs, bad for services, bad for pensions and bad for this country. The people of Scotland have a choice in May. The reality is that the only way to stop Tory austerity plans and SNP austerity max is to vote Labour.

Amendment S4M-12521.2 moved:

As an amendment to motion S4M-12521 in the name of John Swinney (Protecting Public Services and Boosting Scotland's Economy), leave out from "condemns" to end and insert "rejects the UK Government's failing austerity plan as set out in the Chancellor's Autumn Statement; understands that the Office for Budget Responsibility has warned that this would take public spending back to a share of national income not seen since the late 1930s. before the NHS came into existence; notes that the Institute for Fiscal Studies has said that this would entail cuts on a colossal scale and has raised concerns that this could involve a fundamental reimagining of the role of the state; calls on the UK Government to instead adopt a different, fairer and more balanced approach, which involves a reversal of its £3 billion-a-year income tax cut for people earning over £150,000; recognises that a UK Labour government will ban exploitative zero-hours contracts, with rules introduced to give new rights to employees on these contracts; recognises the crucial role of the oil and gas industry to the success of the Scottish economy; notes that full fiscal autonomy, Scottish-only taxes for Scottish-only spending, would mean billions of pounds of cuts, and therefore rejects full fiscal autonomy in favour of the continuation of the Barnett formula to protect Scottish public services."

The Deputy Presiding Officer: As I reminded members yesterday, interventions from a sedentary position are neither welcome nor necessary. Please stand up if you have something to say.

15:06

Gavin Brown (Lothian) (Con): Conservative members are always happy to debate the economy and to discuss what is happening at a UK level, and we are pleased to repeat that, under the coalition Government's approach, the plan is working. The other parties told us that it would not work, and they do not like to hear it anywhere else in the chamber, but the plan is working, with growth of 3.5 per cent in 2014, a record employment level, the unemployment rate in Scotland at 5.4 per cent and a deficit chopped in half, from 10 to 5 per cent. Of course, there is more to do.

It is no surprise that, again, the reasonable, mild-mannered John Swinney cannot bring himself to give any credit to the UK Government—none whatsoever—but the SNP has gone one step further this week. The First Minister said:

"As a result of the actions we have taken, we have seen a period of sustained growth in Scotland's economy over the last couple of years."

According to her, all the sustained growth is down to the actions that the Scottish Government has taken. She saw no irony in the fact that, just minutes later, she said that we have no job-creating powers in Scotland and will not be getting any. It is sheer magic through which the Government has managed to create jobs and growth as, apparently, it has no job-creating powers.

I see Mike MacKenzie on his feet. I am always happy to give way to him.

Mike MacKenzie (Highlands and Islands) (SNP): Will Mr Brown acknowledge that, in the 30 years preceding 2007, the Scottish economy, however it is measured, marginally underperformed against the UK economy, but it has marginally outperformed the UK economy since 2007?

Gavin Brown: The member is dancing on the head of a pin, as he usually does, in desperate defence of the Scottish Government. He does everything in his power to put himself forward for ministerial office, and I wish him luck at the next reshuffle—I genuinely do. He would be a great addition to the team, but he will have to do slightly better than that if he wants to be raised up.

Mr Swinney says that all the growth is happening despite the UK Government, but Alex Johnstone made a key point in an intervention. Why do we not compare the UK's position with that of other countries in Europe? We are getting growth of 3.5 per cent—predicted to be 3 per cent this year—but the eurozone as a whole is predicted to be at just under 1 per cent. That is quite a difference.

The unemployment rate is 5.4 per cent in Scotland, whereas there is double-digit unemployment in France, Italy and the eurozone as a whole, on average. There is a huge difference between what is happening in the UK and what is happening in competitor countries.

Chic Brodie (South Scotland) (SNP): Will the member take an intervention?

Alex Rowley rose—

Gavin Brown: I will take Chic Brodie first and if I have time later I will take Alex Rowley's intervention.

Chic Brodie: Mr Brown mentioned that the forecast is that GDP growth will be 3 per cent. Why is that different from what the Office for Budget Responsibility said in December, which was that growth would fall substantially and would

be only 0.1 per cent above where it was at the time of the recession?

Gavin Brown: I certainly did not see an OBR report that said that we would not have growth this year and that there would be negative growth. If Chic Brodie can point to where the OBR report says that there will be negative growth, I would be happy to see that, but it would be out of kilter with every other report that I have seen and everything that I have heard from economists.

I move on to the second plank of the Government's motion, in which it talks about the £180 billion that will appear from nowhere and which John Swinney described as involving borrowing "slightly more". Borrowing £180 billion over the next few years is borrowing "slightly more".

John Swinney: Will Gavin Brown give way?

Gavin Brown: Sure, if John Swinney wants to retract that and say that the figure is maybe a bit more than "slightly more".

John Swinney: I retract nothing of what I said. I want Gavin Brown to explain to Parliament his justification for the chancellor having to borrow £150 billion more than he predicted in 2010.

Gavin Brown: John Swinney ignores six quarters of negative growth across the entire eurozone, which is a crisis across a continent.

Mr Swinney is not in a strong position when he talks about predictions for the economy. Just months ago, he said that we would collect £7 billion or £8 billion a year from oil revenues, and he had the audacity to describe that as a "cautious" estimate. It was not fantasy; it was a cautious estimate. How foolish does that look now?

Mark McDonald: Will the member take an intervention?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: The member is in his last minute.

Gavin Brown: I am in my final minute, so I am afraid that I will not give way.

The idea that £180 billion is "slightly more" is absurd.

John Swinney has no idea when the Scottish Government would under its plans eliminate the deficit. I looked at its plans and gave them the most generous interpretation that I could, and it appears that the deficit might be eliminated in 2024, which is almost two full UK parliamentary sessions away. All that I ask the Deputy First Minister is what impact there would be on investors, the market and the rates that we would have to pay on borrowing if we said that it would

be almost two full parliamentary sessions before we got anywhere near eliminating the deficit.

The Scottish Government's economic strategy adds little to the programme, which is why I look forward so much to hearing in the coming months the details of what it intends to do with the economy.

I move amendment S4M-12521.1, to leave out from "condemns" to end and insert:

"welcomes the fact that the UK's economic growth continues to be among the highest of the major developed world economies; welcomes the high employment situation across the UK and the deficit being reduced by a half since 2010; believes that measures taken by the UK Government, such as cutting employer national insurance contributions and maintaining the lowest level of corporation tax in the G7, are providing considerable benefits to businesses in Scotland; believes that measures such as raising the income tax threshold and freezing fuel duty have helped household budgets; notes the publication of Scotland's Economic Strategy, but is disappointed by the content, which contains very few new initiatives that could help businesses in Scotland create jobs, grow and compete."

15:13

Willie Rennie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD): I am worried about John Swinney, whose carefully crafted persona is that he is cool, reasonable, competent and safe. That is the public persona that he has worked hard to craft, unlike most nationalists.

Stewart Stevenson (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP): That is a real public-private partnership.

Willie Rennie: I hear Stewart Stevenson talking over my shoulder.

However, in just a few short months, that persona has started to crumble. Let us take the performance on the economy. John Swinney said that the UK Government's economic plan would fail, that there would be higher unemployment and lower employment, and that growth would not return to the economy. However, now what do we see? Employment is at a record high—it is up by 187,000 in Scotland since 2010. Wages are outstripping inflation and the UK is vying with the United States of America for the fastest growth among G7 countries. John Swinney got it wrong on the economy.

Then we have to look at the second oil boom. John Swinney boldly predicted that the price of a barrel of oil would remain at \$110. He claimed that oil revenues would make an independent Scotland one of the richest countries in the world, but oil is half the price that he predicted, which means that he has fallen short by £155 million per day.

Mark McDonald: Will the member give way?

Mike MacKenzie: Will the member give way?

Willie Rennie: Not just now.

That would have decimated hospital, school, college and university budgets. Thankfully, the no vote in September saved us from feeling the effects of John Swinney's reckless claims. Because we chose to remain in the UK, we can all focus on addressing the jobs crisis that the industry is facing in the north-east and throughout Scotland. I know that most members will take that seriously. He got it wrong on oil too.

Mark McDonald: As Mr Rennie knows, as a result of the no vote, fiscal powers on the oil and gas sector remain the responsibility of the Westminster Government. Does Mr Rennie agree that the Westminster Government should be putting all its effort into ensuring that investment and exploration are stimulated in the oil and gas industry? Is he pressing his colleagues for that action in the budget?

Willie Rennie: Yes and yes. I absolutely agree with Mark McDonald, probably not for the first time but maybe for the last.

The latest blow to Mr Swinney's reputation was dealt by a most surprising source this week. His party leader abandoned his policy on corporation tax, with no explanation, on page 80 of 82 pages—the fag end of the document—on a wet Tuesday afternoon. The 3p cut in corporation tax was at the heart of the white paper and the heart of the referendum. Mr Swinney defended and advocated the cut, and now his leader has ditched it.

Neil Findlay: Does Mr Rennie find it unusual that the normally bullish claims about the 3 per cent corporation tax cut were not even mentioned in a 14-minute speech from the person who created the policy?

Willie Rennie: Mr Findlay might think that Mr Swinney was embarrassed by the prospect of having to explain the corporation tax policy, but I am sure that that is not the case and that Mr Swinney will give us a full explanation in summing up. I am sure that members will be delighted to hear whether there is an explanation.

Is the reason that the UK Government's economic policy has created six times as many jobs in Scotland in less than a quarter of the time that Mr Swinney's policy proposed? Is it that the evidence for the Scottish Government's policy was so weak that it could never be made public? We tried repeatedly, including through the Scottish Information Commissioner, to get details about how many jobs would be lost in the first few years under such a policy. At one point, one of Mr Swinney's officials said that releasing the information might lead to Opposition parties

starting a debate. Heaven forfend that we should ever know the real reasons for the policy.

Mr Swinney has made three big errors—on oil, on the economy and now on corporation tax. His reputation is beginning to crumble.

Chic Brodie: Will the member take an intervention?

Willie Rennie: No—I have taken too many interventions.

I have a suggestion for how Mr Swinney can restore his reputation—he could adopt some of the Liberal Democrats' proposed policies. Earlier this week, my colleague Danny Alexander published our plans to introduce a special rate of corporation tax on the banks. Now that Mr Swinney has abandoned his corporation tax policy, perhaps that might encourage him to support Danny Alexander's corporation tax proposal, which would bring an extra £1 billion to help us to balance the UK's books.

John Swinney and I might agree on some aspects, and especially on a fairer society. The Liberal Democrats agree with expanding childcare and we would like him to accelerate that expansion earlier. We also encourage him to adopt our policy of cutting tax for those who are on low and middle incomes. I know that SNP members have opposed that policy, so I hope that he reverses that position. I encourage John Swinney to listen to what the Liberal Democrats have to say on the economy, because that might be one way in which he might start to restore his reputation.

I move amendment S4M-12521.3, to leave out from "condemns" to end and insert:

"notes the publication of the Scottish Government's new economic strategy and the abandonment of its previous policy to anchor its approach to the economy on a cut of 3p in the pound on corporation tax; further notes that the economic policy of the UK Government has created six times as many jobs in Scotland in less than a quarter of the time compared with the projections for the now-abandoned Scottish Government policy; understands that the Scottish defended to the Scottish Commissioner their right to withhold information on the cost in lost revenues of their corporation tax cut, including on the grounds set out by an official that it 'may lead to opposition parties starting a debate'; considers that, now that the policy has been abandoned, ministers should publish the information on the lost revenues for the initial years of implementation forthwith; calls on the Scottish Government to indicate if its U-turn on corporation tax now means that it will support an increase in the corporation tax paid by banks in order to increase the contribution of the banking system to balancing the UK's books, and further calls on the Scottish Government to change its position on a further aspect of creating a fairer society and to support a further cut in income tax for those on low and middle incomes by raising the personal allowance to £12,500."

15:19

Mark McDonald (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP): Members who have listened to Jackie Baillie talking about how the Labour Party is in absolute opposition to the Tory and Lib Dem coalition, and then watched as they tee'd up jokes and one-liners for each other, might have had some difficulty with reconciling those two positions.

Nonetheless, Mr Rennie talked about the personal allowance changes that the UK Government has put in place. The difficulty for Mr Rennie is that he views those measures in isolation and does not look at their interactions with other UK Government policy positions.

He will know that independent analysis of UK Government budgets has shown that the pressures that are faced by the lowest economic groupings in society are higher than those that are faced by people at the top end as a direct result of decisions that have been made. It is the cumulative effect of decisions that is at issue, not individual decisions such as the decision to raise the personal allowance.

In respect of the arguments that have been put forward thus far in the debate, it is fair to say that the Opposition parties want to rerun the referendum debate. It is open to them to do so; what I have great difficulty with is the fact that they want to do so from the absolute position of talking down Scotland and the potential of Scotland. We have heard on more than one occasion from the front benches, first, that Scotland is a subsidised nation and, secondly, that Scotland is somehow too poor and uniquely incapable of managing its own finances and resources to shape and grow its own economy.

Gavin Brown: Will the member take an intervention?

Mark McDonald: I will perhaps do so a little bit later.

What we have seen outlined by the Scottish Government and the First Minister is an economic strategy that sets out a narrative about equality and growth in the economy and demonstrates that the two need not be viewed in isolation but should be viewed as cohesive aims that complement and support each other.

Beyond that is a very important argument. Jackie Baillie was right to remind us of the shortness of the period before voters go to the polls. She says that voters face a choice between Labour and the Tories. If they are all for austerity, that is true. The difficulty that the Labour Party has is that it was not just the charter for budget responsibility that Labour MPs walked through the voting lobby to vote in favour of; they voted in favour of George Osborne's budget at the same

time. They trooped through the lobby to vote for George Osborne's austerity budget for the coming year and for the charter for budget responsibility, which commits future UK Governments of whatever colour to £30 billion of austerity measures. Mr Findlay is trying desperately to reconcile his position with that of his party at the UK level, but even he must have been disappointed by the actions of his Westminster colleagues.

Jackie Baillie: Will the member give way?

Neil Findlay: Will the member take an intervention?

Mark McDonald: I will give way to Jackie Baillie in a second. I asked Jackie Baillie what the Labour Party's position on the minimum wage would result in—when it would deliver the £8 minimum wage that it has heralded. It would deliver the £8 minimum wage by 2020. At present—in 2015—the living wage is £7.85. That means that, in five years' time, the Labour Party would have increased the minimum wage to 15p above the living wage. Can Jackie Baillie advise the chamber whether £8 will be a living wage in 2020?

Jackie Baillie: I point out to Mark McDonald that what we believe in is not rerunning the independence referendum but finding the best form of devolution to deliver for Scotland.

I recall with a degree of fondness Mark McDonald's vehement defence of and support for the corporation tax. Has he changed his mind? If so, can he tell us why?

Mark McDonald: I have always been on record as saying that I will support any measure that supports growth in the economy, particularly in key sectors.

We know, from the opinion polls, that the Labour Party is in a state of some panic and desperation. We can tell that it is desperate the minute it starts harking back to 1979. I was not born in 1979, but during the years in which I have been alive, in 1983, 1987, 1992 and 2010 Scottish voters went to the polls and voted Labour but got Tory. We know full well that the message that the Labour Party is trooping out—that Scotland voting for the Labour Party will somehow prevent the Tories—is simply rhetoric; it does not match up to the reality of election results.

Labour's message also fails to disclose the fact that, under Labour, we would continue to see the same approach being taken to austerity; it would just be repackaged and rebadged. However much the Scottish Labour Party might try to deny it, Ed Balls is fully signed up to the austerity agenda, whereas the Scottish Government and the SNP have proposed a 0.5 per cent increase in public spending. Yes, that is a modest increase, but it

would still allow £180 billion of additional expenditure at the UK level and £14 billion of additional expenditure at the Scottish level. It would allow us to take the action that we want to take to tackle inequalities, to support vulnerable citizens and, most important, to invest for future growth in the economy. That is the real choice that voters will face in May, and they are not going to be fooled by the rhetoric of the Labour Party.

15:25

James Kelly (Rutherglen) (Lab): There is no doubt that debates on the economy are always important, because the economy drives so much that is vital in our communities to making a difference to people's lives. From that point of view, I looked closely at the document that the SNP Government published on Tuesday for some clues to the road map for the journey that the Scottish Government is going to take us on. We often hear people in these debates talking about the creation of a fairer and more equal Scotland. That is something that a lot of people agree on, but when I examine the detail of the document, I am left puzzled as to how it will be created.

There is talk in the document about the Scottish salmon getting accorded the label rouge in France and about the number of heritage sites that we have. These things are all very welcome, but I ask myself, what does that mean to constituents in my area? When I look round my area, at Cambuslang and at some of its areas of social deprivation, and I look at the document with all its glossy pictures and graphs, I ask myself: what is the Scottish Government doing to tackle social deprivation in Cambuslang?

As you journey from Bridgeton to Bearsden, life expectancy decreases. I ask myself: what in this document will tackle health inequalities? I look at attainment levels in education and the struggle that working-class kids continue to have to get to university. The fact that the SNP Government has cut more than 130,000 college places makes that an even greater hurdle. I look at the housing situation, with 150,000 people on social housing waiting lists, and I look at people in my constituency overcrowded staving in accommodation—something that blights their economic opportunity—and I ask myself: what is the SNP doing to tackle this crisis?

Mark McDonald: When I was vice convener of housing for Aberdeen City Council, we were able to start building the first council housing for a generation in the city of Aberdeen, as a result of the measures taken by this Scottish Government to remove the right to buy. Does Mr Kelly agree with that, and does he not lament the fact that the Labour Party never removed the right to buy in all its time in office?

James Kelly: I lament the fact that the SNP Government cut the housing budget by 29 per cent. That contributed to one of the biggest crises in social housing since the second world war.

There is no doubt that the impact of the Tory cuts since 2010, which have left families £1,600 worse off, have not helped the crisis that our communities face. I recently met staff of the local citizens advice bureau, and they can tell you that, as a result of the welfare cuts, they are getting many more referrals.

The issues in this debate must be how we move things forward and what we can do in practical terms. Obviously, the general election focuses on that. As part of the way forward, Labour is proposing a mansion tax to raise £3 billion, which we would use to promote economic growth. We are also proposing the introduction of a 50p tax rate to redistribute wealth in the economy and to help those who need it most.

From the Scottish Government, we would like to see more action on zero-hours contracts, tax avoidance and the living wage—all areas in which, regrettably, the Scottish Government voted down stronger amendments to the Procurement Reform (Scotland) Bill.

As we heard from Mr Swinney, the way forward from the SNP perspective is full fiscal autonomy. There is no doubt that—in the words of Arthur Montford—that would be a "disaster for Scotland". To lose the Barnett consequentials of £4 billion would have a disastrous impact. Members should look at the publication this morning of the Audit Scotland report that shows how council budgets have been cut by 8.5 per cent in real terms. The impact of losing the Barnett formula would be to take another £1 billion out of council budgets.

Councils are faced with the prospect of cutting back on care packages and closing libraries. There are schools in my constituency that are not able to print out the homework and ask people to print it out at home. How can people print out the homework at home when some of them do not even have a computer printer? That is the reality of what is happening.

On the economy, we need a proper analysis first and foremost, not just a glossy document from the SNP, and then we need solutions that will work—measures that will make a difference, such as the living wage. We need to commit to those in the coming period so that we can make a difference for Scotland.

15:31

Christina McKelvie (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP): Before I get into my substantive remarks, I remind Mr Kelly who runs

South Lanarkshire Council: it is a Labour-Tory coalition. I remind him that South Lanarkshire Council has failed at every point to take part in any of the grant schemes to build more council houses. Perhaps that is down to the fact that it has been so incompetent with its budgets over the past few years that it has had to fork out £72 million to settle equal pay claims.

Let us get to the nub of the matter. Somehow, we have got ourselves into a position in which we are almost apologising for wanting to care for the most vulnerable and disadvantaged people in our communities. It is as if public services have gone out of fashion. I wonder why that could be. Might it have something to do with the coalition's and Labour's austerity agenda? That hurts the vulnerable deeply. Perhaps it is to do with the UK Independence Party, "Benefits Street" programmes on television or Labour leaders suggesting that universal benefits represent a something-for-nothing culture.

Fortunately, the Scottish Government is not prepared to bow down to such pressures, which would make our lone parents demoralised and miserable and would put their children into abject poverty and cut their educational attainment from under their feet.

Neil Findlay: I agree with some of what Ms McKelvie has said but I ask her how a 10 per cent cut passed on by the UK Government to the Scottish Government becoming a 24 per cent cut to local government helps the situations that she describes.

Christina McKelvie: Mr Findlay needs to go back and look at his figures because, earlier, he said that it was an 8 per cent cut. He obviously does not know what he is talking about.

Our disabled folk who, through no fault of their own, suffer debilitating conditions such as motor neurone disease, multiple sclerosis, Down's syndrome or mental health problems are easy targets for the coalition and Labour. They attack the people who are least equipped to challenge. I see many lone parents in my constituency who cannae get a hoose because of South Lanarkshire Council. Not only do they face the challenges of benefits sanctions and cuts but they struggle to pay for heat and food.

The coalition, along with its pals in the Labour Party, seems to think that, once it has people down, it can easily grind them a bit further until they shut up or, in some cases, die. I think that "squeeze them until the pips squeak" is the phrase that was used this week.

When it is set out like that, not one member present will admit to buying into that mentality, but the reality is that many are doing exactly that. They are buying into the coalition's and Labour's

agenda of ever-increasing austerity that is focused on those who are least able to fight it.

There is a real alternative. We know that money does not grow on trees, but the money that is available could be much better managed if control over it was brought here. I ask Mr Findlay whether the £100 billion for the renewal of Trident should be spent on bombs rather than bairns. What could we do with our share of that? We certainly would not be aiming to destroy half the world. Maybe the specialist early learning teachers that South Lanarkshire Council is laying off could be protected. Maybe we could target more resources at helping children with learning difficulties to become fulfilled and independent individuals.

James Kelly: Perhaps Ms McKelvie could remind us who allocates the budget—which has suffered such swingeing cuts since 2007—to South Lanarkshire Council?

Christina McKelvie: Is that the same South Lanarkshire Council that is running away from its Labour pals in the Convention of Scottish Local Authorities because it does not like the deal that it got? Is it the same South Lanarkshire Council that has been so incompetent with its budget that it lost £40 million a few years ago? Nobody knew where it went. The council said that it was a paper exercise. No, it was not—it was a cut in services. Maybe the council should consider cutting its hospitality budget and not its early learning budget; maybe that is how it should be looking at things.

We should not be protecting bankers' bonuses or tax exemptions for properties in Kensington and Chelsea. Members have already heard a lot about what we as a Government are doing and achieving within the powers that are available to us. The Labour Party asked us to look at tax evasion, the living wage and employment law. That is fine, but will it support the devolution of those powers to this Parliament? I do not think so.

The powers that we have are limited, but we are working on that. We need far more substantial and direct powers here in Scotland. Will Labour commit to devolving the living wage? I do not think so.

The UK was ranked 28th out of 34 OECD countries on income equality. The situation has not changed, regardless of the colour of the Government at Westminster. The present UK Government hits out at the poor and the vulnerable—it is easy. It hits out at immigrants and asylum seekers—that is easy, too, as UKIP has proven.

My message to members of those disadvantaged groups is that they should fight back with their vote on 7 May. They should not lie down and accept those attacks on their right to

have a decent, fulfilling life. We should not need food banks, but we do. More than 50,000 people visited Trussell Trust food banks in Scotland between April and September last year. The message could not be simpler or more stark, nor could the division be clearer. People can back the austerity agenda of the Tory-Lib Dem coalition and Labour, whose mission is to extend misery and poverty, or they can support the drive for change to get a fresh look at how we can be all that we can be. We all need public services. They should be neither an apology nor a defence. They are the stuff of all our lives and we should be protecting them.

15:37

John Pentland (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab): When I saw that the motion was on protecting public services and boosting Scotland's economy, my first impression was that the cabinet secretary was having a joke. Excuse me, but is this the same cabinet secretary who, on his watch, masterminded the attack on the very services that boost Scotland's economy?

In case the cabinet secretary has forgotten, local authorities are Scotland's biggest employers, but most of Scotland's cuts—which the cabinet secretary imposed—have been dumped on their doorsteps. There have been thousands of job losses, and there is more hardship to come. My authority is having to find a further £75 million to £80 million of cuts over the next three years.

Likewise, the NHS is a victim of the SNP's mismanagement and underfunding, which hit the poor and the vulnerable hardest. As well as being unfair, health inequalities undermine our economy. Damaging public services restricts growth. Rather than develop a sensible and sustainable plan, the Scottish Government has been reluctant to admit that there are problems, so now the chickens are coming home to roost. This week, NHS Fife was forced to announce a root-and-branch review. It admitted that it does not have all the answers and that it is seeking outside help. Ministers should follow suit.

What has the SNP done for education? Especially in the most deprived areas, colleges have a major role to play as stepping stones to higher education and jobs. Deep cuts in staffing, resources and student numbers undermine action to tackle inequality and promote growth.

As for the police service, how can we protect it when Government policy insists on one arbitrary target but says to hell with everything else?

Of course there are tough decisions to be made, but refusing to face up to economic reality does not help. The SNP's opposition to delivering a balanced long-term budget was cringeworthy and infantile posturing. It ignored the argument that balancing the books does not have to mean austerity. That can be done without strangling the economy and growth; indeed, growth is the key to balancing the books without forcing austerity on the UK. [Interruption.]

Mr Coffey should listen to this. This week, the auld alliance reared its ugly head when the SNP voted with the Tories against a proposal to end the UK's failing austerity plan and to replace it with a different, fairer and more balanced approach. Despite the SNP's retreat on corporation tax, it has still not embraced progressive policies, such as the 50p tax rate and the mansion tax. Its claim to support social justice is empty rhetoric unless it accepts reducing inequality that redistribution. After all, it has become increasingly clear since the SNP helped Thatcher to power that wealth does not just trickle down.

Despite what the SNP tries to pretend, Scotland has powers to achieve redistribution and it is getting more powers.

Mark McDonald: Will John Pentland give way?

John Pentland: It seems that the SNP will never be satisfied until-Mr McDonald should listen to this-it has ruined Scotland. It now wants to decimate public finances by removing the shared support and safety net of the Barnett formula. Almost without exception, the Barnett formula has benefited us, so we would be fools to reject it, especially when our fiscal gap is growing even wider. I say to Mr Swinney that even the First Minister has acknowledged that that would mean £4 billion in cuts, which would dwarf Tory austerity and threaten pensions. If the First Minister admits that that would mean £4 billion in cuts, that is probably an underestimate. The SNP may call that fiscal autonomy; I call it cutting off your nose to spite your face. It puts the SNP and Tories alongside each other as agents of austerity.

James Dornan (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP): Will John Pentland take an intervention?

John Pentland: The only way to avoid Tory austerity and SNP austerity plus—[Interruption.] I want Mr Coffey to listen to what I am saying. The only way to avoid Tory austerity and SNP austerity plus is through a Labour Government.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Are you accepting an intervention? You are finished. Right. Thank you very much.

15:43

Chic Brodie (South Scotland) (SNP): I want Mr Pentland to listen to this. All we ever get is Labour opposing everything and proposing nothing. We have heard numbers. This is not just about historical numbers; it is about a strategy that

will achieve sustainable growth in the interests of the Scottish people. I have heard nothing from the Opposition about what alternative is being presented—not a thing.

The longer-term economic strategy, underpinned by our annual budgets and spend, depends of course on what we get as long as we are governed from down south, or on more fiscal power engendered down south. Based on that, we have to achieve the foundation of the aspirational, outward-looking and fairer Scotland that we all wish to see.

While I am talking about fairness, let us look at the Lib Dem amendment. The Lib Dems have the temerity to talk about having a fairer society. They want to increase the income tax threshold to £12,500. I checked the numbers with the Scottish Parliament information centre this morning. If somebody earns £25,000 a year, the benefit of that increase in the income tax threshold is £500, but a person on £100,000 will get a benefit in net income of £1,000. Where is the fairness in that?

Alex Johnstone: Is Chic Brodie aware that when the tax threshold was substantially increased the higher-rate tax threshold was reduced in order to fund that and that, as a result, higher-rate taxpayers do not benefit from that increase?

Chic Brodie: The figure is £120,000, Mr Johnstone, not £100,000. The tapering starts at £100,000.

What we want in a strategy is greater growth in investment, more competitiveness, zero inequality and absolutely no austerity. Our solutions are rooted in history and we should learn from them, whether that means going back to when the Lloyd George Government introduced national insurance and the minimum wage in 1915, to Roosevelt's new deal in the depression or Macmillan's capital investment programme, which are all investments that provoked an economic foundation for recovery.

However, our economic recovery has to instill not only increased employment but more fairness and equality. That is what I believe the strategy does. It looks at merit; contribution and productivity; the further development of skills and learning, aligned to the strategy; experience; joint shared participation of capital and labour in the economic business place; and a diminution of the practices of cronyism and discrimination. If we create that level playing field, that has to be a final resting place as we set about reducing inequalities in the workplace and the associated issues around remuneration.

I am sure that my colleagues will speak in more depth about inequality and austerity, so I will focus on growth, investment, innovation and internationalisation. We will not escape austerity—in fact, we will become more mired in it—unless we accept the principle that capital spending will result in greater employment and increased income tax and VAT receipts, and so will reduce debt, thereby allowing the cycle of investment to continue. That is something that the UK Government should have done years ago but has failed to do.

Of course, that should be underpinned by a commitment to securing simultaneously the principle of people being paid a living wage. Within that, the 0.5 per cent real increase in spending on public services over the next three years has to be seen to be critical. That protection should encourage the public sector, in all its forms, to embrace the third sector and social enterprises by outsourcing to them non-core public service activities. By so doing, real productivity and innovation will be generated, and the disparities, needs and wants of ignored communities will be addressed. The Procurement Reform (Scotland) Bill and the Community Empowerment (Scotland) Bill will assist in that.

Stimulation of innovation in our focused sectors and markets, primarily, although not solely, through our universities and their research and development capabilities, is a key element on which our international economic foundations, global success and national income will be built.

Our global reputation for manufacturing, remanufacturing, engineering, food and drink, life sciences, tourism and new technologies demands a much more global approach, and the creation and extension of our campuses internationally, in particular, will promote the competitive advantage that we seek. That is outlined clearly in the strategy.

Having spent many of my business years in manufacturing, I am encouraged that the strategy requires a stronger role for the increased exporting of goods and services, and that manufacturing firms are more likely to innovate and invest in research and development and will be vehicles of change as we drive to open up more markets.

It is to be hoped that greater productivity and a further reduction in inequality will be achieved through greater equity, and financial and management participation in companies. That should not just be restricted to manufacturing. In all sectors, we recognise that our economic success will be charted by an equivalence in our approach to skills, be they achieved through vocational qualification or through academic qualification.

Our economic success will be built on the foundations that are inherent in this strategy: opportunity; equality and sharing; fairness; no

discrimination; merit; skills and training; productivity; and innovation. Above all, this nation should not be afraid to fail; instead, we should challenge.

The strategy addresses those points and more, and I fully support it.

15:49

Mike MacKenzie (Highlands and Islands) (SNP): It is useful to examine the longer-term context in which this debate is taking place, from the immediate post-war period, when the UK was still the premier manufacturing country in the world, to now, when it is close to the bottom of the league of developed nations in that respect. It takes a special type of incompetence to throw away such a lead in such a short time. Labour had its version of incompetence; the Tories had theirs.

The whole period has been characterised by a sterile political debate between the two main UK parties. That ideological war, like all wars, has been extremely damaging, although new Labour effectively gave up that battle when it joined the ranks of the Tories.

Over this period, we have fallen behind most of our competitor nations in manufacturing capability. productivity and GDP per capita. While we have tortured ourselves in endlessly fighting the ideological battles of yesteryear, the rest of the world has moved on, investing in their industries, investing in their people and investing in their becoming comparative advantages, more competitive, more productive and more prosperous.

Over the past 30 years, the UK has been characterised by rising inequality and rising debt, with the UK public debt now having risen to an astonishing level approaching £1.5 trillion. Both Labour and the Tory-Lib Dem Government are culpable. Not long before the banking crisis, Gordon Brown made the amazing boast that he had ended boom and bust.

That is part of the reason why the Lib Dem amendment is absurd. Willie Rennie knows that Gordon Brown did not end the boom and bust of the business cycle and that we are now on the upwards leg of that cycle. Willie Rennie knows that much of the recovery of the coalition, of which his party is so proudly a member, has been bought on the backs of the working poor and he knows that it has been bought on the back of the proliferation of zero-hours contracts, austerity and increases in poverty, which have brought abject misery to disadvantaged people across the whole country. The austerity programme is merely a continuation of that sterile ideological debate that has taken the UK almost to the edge of the economic abyss.

The Tories and the Lib Dems boast that the deficit has reduced while at the same time trying to hide the fact that they have missed each and every one of their deficit-reduction targets, and fail all the time to tell the public that the debt itself continues to rise.

This SNP Government has moved on and is refining and improving its policy.

Gavin Brown: Under the SNP's published plan, when would the overall debt stop rising?

Mike MacKenzie: I certainly accept that it may take a bit longer to pay off the debt. When it is finally paid off, if it is ever paid off, it will be just as when the war debt was paid off—nobody noticed.

This Government has moved on and is refining and improving its policy, while Willie Rennie is concentrating on last year's battles.

Willie Rennie: Is Mike MacKenzie serious? Does he think that controlling the public debt is not important? Is that what he is saying?

Mike MacKenzie: I think that it is important, but the best way to control the public debt is to seek increasing growth—not to try to cut costs. This Government has moved on and is refining and improving its policy. As I was saying, Mr Rennie is concentrating on last year's battles. He is looking backwards instead of forwards. That is why the Lib Dem vehicle keeps running off the road and is about to crash.

There is not much to say about the Tory amendment, except that the Tory idea of competitiveness is a race to the bottom in an economy that is characterised by ever-lower wages. That is the road to economic ruin.

The Labour amendment at least admits that austerity is not working. It is just a pity that Labour recently voted with the Tories, thereby ensuring austerity's continuation; it is just a pity that its economic plan is indistinguishable from that of the Tories.

The only alternative economic wisdom is that which is supplied by this SNP Government—learning lessons from more successful European neighbours and recognising that a fairer and more equal economy is also more successful in economic terms, that innovation and investment will see us become more competitive and productive and that Scotland's people will repay many times over every penny that has been invested in them and their skills and education. We will send down enough SNP MPs to Westminster to bring that economic wisdom right into the heart of the UK establishment—not only for the sake of everyone in Scotland, but for our friends in England, too.

15:55

Alex Rowley (Cowdenbeath) (Lab): When I am in this chamber, I sometimes ask myself whether I am in a room full of parliamentarians who are debating the big issues for their constituents and their constituencies or in a room full of political activists who are putting the case for their own political parties. Sadly, today's level of debate leads me to conclude the latter.

Our communities and our constituents face major issues. The debate's focus should be on how we tackle those big challenges and how we move forward.

The Scottish Government's economic strategy says that

"The ambition for a socially just, and more equal, Scotland, has been a central objective of this Government since 2007."

If that is the case, we have to say that it has failed, because both the London and Edinburgh Governments have presided over a rise in poverty and inequality.

I tried to intervene during Willie Rennie and Gavin Brown's speeches to make the point that while we are seeing a growth in jobs—any growth in jobs is welcome—many of the jobs are, as I said in my intervention on John Swinney, low paid. We are seeing in the economy much more part-time work and many more self-employed people. Therefore, the types of jobs are important. Indeed, the Deputy First Minister acknowledged that.

On inequality and poverty, over the past number of years we have seen food banks increase in communities the length and breadth of Scotland. In my constituency there are food banks in Ballingry, Rosyth and Inverkeithing, and there is a food parcel collection point in Kelty. Tonight, when I leave this chamber, I will be going to the opening of a food bank in Cowdenbeath. Levels of poverty and deprivation have been increasing. Although we should be celebrating the increase in job numbers and doing more to create jobs and support people, we must acknowledge the inequality in our communities. The people of Scotland acknowledge the inequality and poverty. The people of Scotland, regardless their politics or whether they voted no or yes in the referendum, expect their politicians to focus on those big issues.

Christina McKelvie took great delight in standing up and attacking South Lanarkshire Council. However, as the Scottish Government acknowledges, the local government settlement has, year on year, been a very difficult settlement. There are authorities with budget cuts of between 17 and 25 per cent. If members look, they will see that that is happening where there is greater poverty and deprivation.

Mike MacKenzie: I agree with a lot of what Alex Rowley is saying. Would he agree with me that we should forget the austerity policies and look towards the SNP policy of increasing the budget by half a per cent every year and perhaps thereby pass on some of the increase to councils and at least protect them from further cuts?

Alex Rowley: I say to Mike MacKenzie that, regardless who we blame for the global economic crash, when Labour left Government in 2010, we were coming out of recession. Unlike the Tory and Liberal London Administration, which believes that the way to tackle the issue is to cut public expenditure and create greater problems, Labour was growing the economy.

There is a difference in approach: there was a difference in approach in the previous Labour Government, and there is a difference in approach in the party that I represent.

Coming back to the Government's strategy and issues such as inequality and poverty, I have to tell the chamber that the surgeries that I held over the weekend were some of the busiest I have had since becoming an MSP. The biggest difficulty that people were coming to me with was the lack of housing or that they were homeless and were having to live with their families, friends and so on. The fact is that we have a housing crisis. There are 180,000 people on council waiting lists in Scotland, and the cost of buying an average house has rocketed from £73,000 at the turn of the century to a current average of £179,000, which means that people who are in work and are earning have been priced out of the market. Soon there will be, as in Victorian times—in other words, before the building of public sector housing—as many poor households in the smaller private rented sector as there are in the larger public and social housing sector. We have to address that situation.

I am always banging on about Shelter's call for 10,000 houses a year, but it is reckoned that it will take 60 years to clear the backlog. We should set alongside that the jobs and apprenticeships that can be created and the skills that can be learned. At the moment, Fife has a programme to build 2,700 council houses for rent over a five-year period; it has a great record of working with the private sector and of creating apprenticeships. However, the companies involved have told me that the whole building sector is heading for a skills crisis; in fact, last week, I heard of a company that could not recruit any electricians. We are not promoting skills, and now we have a skills shortage.

As a result, I want a much more focused housing programme. After he delivered his budget, I spoke to the cabinet secretary on this matter, and I welcomed the investment that he was making in

housing. I will always welcome any investment in housing, but the point is that we need more.

We need to look at a new deal with local government and find out how we can work together.

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Elaine Smith): You should come to a close, please.

Alex Rowley: I will conclude in a minute, Presiding Officer. I just want to highlight the Glasgow city deal, which has been able to mobilise £1.2 billion for all the authorities involved and is projected to create 20,000 new jobs. Let us cut out the party politicking for cheap points; let us stand up for our constituencies and have a real vision for Scotland; and let us tackle the issues that are impacting—

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Please close, Mr Rowley.

Alex Rowley: —on our constituents every day. That is why they send us here, and that is what we get paid for.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I have a little bit of time in hand for members who take interventions, but not a huge amount. I call Stewart Stevenson.

16:03

Stewart Stevenson (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP): I want to respond to Alex Rowley's challenge by agreeing with him on much of the analysis. I will come to the conclusions a little bit later.

An announcement on schools that has been made today by the Scottish Government illustrates, I think, the approach that it is taking. As we know, the Government has reached agreement with all the local authorities to maintain teacher numbers, which is important if we are to train the next generation. The £100 million to improve educational attainment in Scotland's disadvantaged communities that was announced last month reinforces what we are doing, and the £21 million that has been announced today for the construction of new school facilities is very much to be welcomed. This Government is addressing the issue of raising the attainment levels of people in communities across Scotland, and the schools for the future programme will create 100 new schools over its length.

We know that the Scottish Government has a view about what should be happening in the UK and the effects that that should have in Scotland; indeed, John Swinney referred to the £180 billion more that we should be spending. It is worth looking at what the OBR has to say about the UK Government's policy; it says that it will result in

cuts of around £94 billion in day-to-day spending on public services. Of course, that does not mean very much—I have never seen £94 billion sitting in a pile—but when we think about it as £1,800 a head we realise why there is such a fiscal drag on the domestic economy for far too many people in our country.

I have a proposal, although I am not certain whether it will be welcomed by the cabinet secretary. In planning our expenditure, we might think about projects that have a particular characteristic that I have not heard discussed very much. We should probably try to spend more of our money on smaller projects, which would enable more of the money to be retained in communities. The big projects will always attract international competition, which brings with it the risk that more of the money will go elsewhere. With smaller projects, more of the money is likely to stay in our local communities, which would perhaps address the issues behind some of the points that Alex Rowley made.

Nigel Don (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP): Although that analysis seems very plausible, I put it to Stewart Stevenson that experience tells us that contracts tend to go to contractors who have the longest balance sheet. Those are by definition the biggest contractors, who may well just displace the smaller businesses that should be winning the contracts.

Stewart Stevenson: Nigel Don is perfectly correct: the strategy is not without risk and we cannot, under competition law, cut large companies out of bidding for small contracts. Inevitably, however, if one has to transport people and goods across the country to work on a small contract, the overhead costs rise, so there is an intrinsic advantage in looking at small contracts.

I will talk about tertiary education, having said a little bit about primary and secondary education. I absolutely welcome the increase in modern apprenticeship places from 15,000 to 25,000, and the objective to raise that number to 30,000. Alex Rowley mentioned a shortage of skilled electricians. Engineering companies in my constituency report skills shortages too, mainly because people are poached for other, more highly paid posts. The focus on delivering employability through the modern apprenticeship scheme and through our colleges is extremely good news.

It is always interesting in a debate when one finds that the amendments from all the Opposition parties simply seek to delete everything that the Government says in its motion after the words, "That the Parliament". That tells us something about the nature of the debate, but nonetheless I will attempt to create some consensus.

Let us look at which bits the Opposition amendments seek to take out of the motion. All the amendments seek to remove the words

"welcomes the additional £180 billion of investment"

and

"endorses the approach of the Scottish Government"— [Interruption.]

We hear from members on the Tory benches that they do not welcome £180 billion of investment.

We have heard in the debate about some of the effects that we are seeing. We heard a bit about the minimum wage, which did not rise in line with inflation in three of the last four years of the Westminster Labour Government. The Labour amendment states that the party

"will ban exploitative zero-hours contracts, with rules introduced to give new rights to employees on these contracts".

Jackie Baillie, contrary to her claim in her speech that the Labour Party is abolishing zero-hours contracts, is simply creating a new version of zero-hours contracts for the future. She can argue for that if she wishes, but I have not heard that argument.

The Labour amendment also states that the party

"rejects full fiscal autonomy in favour of the continuation of the Barnett formula".

However, Ed Balls said in 2011 that the Barnett formula

"was never intended to be long term",

and added:

"We are getting to the point where it needs to be looked at again".

The ambiguities in Labour's position on all that are substantial indeed.

I have been reading today about blue Labour and Jon Cruddas, who was elected to Westminster on the same day that I came here in June 2001 and has just been praising the Tories' City agenda.

This Government has a substantial record of achievement in plugging many of the problems that are created by Westminster. For example, we are plugging the gap in the council tax benefit budget—

The Deputy Presiding Officer: The member should draw to a close, please.

Stewart Stevenson: We are also plugging the gap on the bedroom tax.

I am delighted with what we are doing with more powers. My delight could soar to greater levels, and I look forward to that happening. 16:09

Gil Paterson (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP): The word "proud" can sometimes be an overstatement and its use can be unfounded, but when it comes to the small business bonus scheme I can safely say that I am proud of the SNP Government. To show how the scheme has impacted on small businesses across Scotland, I will give an example of a business in my constituency of Clydebank and Milngavie.

When I was in a small photography shop in my constituency, the owner told me that not having to pay business rates was the most significant and positive factor for his business. He had been operating the business single-handed from one location in Clydebank, but when the small business bonus scheme was introduced it allowed him to expand his business and open another shop in a different location. Although each shop employs only one person, nevertheless the scheme by the Scottish Government to reduce costs for small businesses resulted in my constituent contributing to growing our economy.

My constituent's business involved modest numbers, but he doubled his workforce and took occupancy of a shop that had been lying dormant for a long time. That helped to reinvigorate the local area, which brings a lot of benefits in its own right. I suggest that similar examples can be seen across Scotland. I am sure that colleagues know of small family businesses in their areas that have benefited greatly from the small business bonus scheme.

I should say that the business that I own, which is run by my son, does not qualify for the scheme as it distributes from three locations across Scotland, and combining the rates of all three takes the business beyond the qualifying threshold for the scheme. However, that does not mean that the scheme has not had a positive impact on my business. Given the increase in the number of people in employment and the increase in the number of new businesses opening, I have no doubt that my business has benefited from increased spending power.

Without a doubt, we have all enjoyed the fruits of a more buoyant economy than we would have had without the small business bonus scheme. If the scheme had not been introduced, large numbers of businesses would undoubtedly have had to close, causing a downward spiral that would have had a hugely negative impact on the economy as a whole and small businesses in particular.

It is my experience in the business world that when a business has extra resources or is able to reduce costs and obtain additional revenue, it often has a number of options available to it. It can invest additional revenue in employing additional members of staff; it can purchase new services or equipment; or it can move to bigger and better premises. All those options have a positive impact on the economy and add to growth. Very few businesspeople who have additional revenue will spend it on themselves.

Austerity does not work, in either the short or the long term. We can balance the books without burning our best assets, which are the workforce. The general public are just like a workforce in that, when they have a bit of extra money to spend, that is exactly what they do—spend. I am not for one minute suggesting that we can spend our way out of trouble, but we can take a long-term approach to bring matters into balance through balancing spending against borrowing. After all, it was the Scots who invented the overdraft, and they did not invent it for nothing.

That is why it makes sense to have a modest 0.5 per cent increase in departmental spending across the UK, as the Scottish Government proposes. That would not only reduce debt, but permit a further £180 billion of investment across the UK over the next four years compared with the current UK Government's plans, and it would be £80 billion more than the Labour Party proposes.

There is no question but that that would have a positive impact on the economy and help counter the coalition's austerity agenda, which is hurting the most vulnerable in our society. The Tory-Lib Dem coalition's tax and benefit reforms have hit the poorest 10 per cent of households the hardest. The Child Poverty Action Group has predicted that up to an additional 100,000 Scottish children could be pushed into poverty by 2020 as a result of the UK Government's welfare reforms.

Sadly, food banks have become the norm for too many people in the country. Before 2010, food banks were a rarity. According to the Trussell Trust, more than 51,000 people, including 15,000 children, visited its food banks in Scotland between April and September 2014. Who would have thought that a food bank would be located in prosperous Milngavie? It is hard to believe.

The Labour Party voted with the Tories for a further £30 billion of cuts over the next two years, so it has pinned its colours firmly to the austerity mast.

If we do not help the most vulnerable in our society, how do we build a sustainable growing economy and an equal and fairer country?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Please bring your remarks to a close, Mr Paterson.

Gil Paterson: Certainly, Presiding Officer.

I fully endorse the vision and proposals outlined by the Scottish Government and I commend the motion to Parliament.

16:16

Hanzala Malik (Glasgow) (Lab): The Scottish Government states that its focus is on protecting public services, but the continuous pressure on health and social care caused by our aging population means that resources are being stretched thinner and thinner. Of course I agree with the idea of protecting public services, but I do not understand some of the priorities that the Scottish Government has set.

The Government motion states that "reducing inequality"—an interesting phrase—

"is not only important in itself, but is vital".

However, it remains to be seen how the Scottish Government will reduce inequality. There is not a single redistributive policy proposed by the SNP.

The SNP has declared its support for the living wage, but in reality the SNP blocked the Labour Party's amendments to the Procurement Reform (Scotland) Act 2014, which would have required all public sector contractors to pay the living wage. I do not understand why the SNP did that.

Mark McDonald: Will the member give way?

Hanzala Malik: I think that there must be something wrong with Mr McDonald's chair—he stands up every time an Opposition member speaks.

Mark McDonald: I merely seek to probe with Mr Malik whether raising the minimum wage to £8, which would be 15p above the living wage, by 2020 would be helpful. I note that Jackie Baillie is telling him the answer, and I am sure that he will be able to communicate it to me.

Hanzala Malik: I am surprised that Mr McDonald does not know the answer. Perhaps he knows it and is just being a nuisance.

In the background is the overall state of the Scottish economy. Falling oil revenues have had a massive impact on the north-east of Scotland, and continually low oil prices may cause long-term structural damage. Scotland's economy needs to weather the storm and avoid the abandonment of oil fields that may be economically viable in the future. That can only be done within the much more broadly based economy of the UK, by keeping the Barnett formula and implementing policies that redistribute from rich to poor.

The bankers bonus tax, the mansion tax and the reintroduction of the 50p tax rate are all part of Labour's vision for a fairer country. The SNP's vision for Scotland-only taxes means less

spending on Scottish public services, not more. I do not know where the SNP gets the idea that it will have more money.

I overwhelmingly agree with Gordon Brown's call for a major house-building programme in order to stimulate the Scottish economy. At 3,563, the figure for new-build starts in the last quarter is still far below demand. In addition, the number of approvals given for new social rented homes was only 198, down by 22 per cent on the same quarter in 2013. There are more than 150,000 people waiting on council and housing association waiting lists for a home of their own. I have constituents who have been waiting on lists for years. They have experienced extreme levels of overcrowding that have affected their children's education, health and social skills and denied them the basic requirement of privacy. There is a shortage of homes across the board, for single people as well as for families. Shelter Scotland estimates that at least 10,000 new homes for social rent need to be built every year for decades to come.

I invite the Scottish Government to give us solid policies on the Scottish economy, not just empty, meaningless words. The Scottish Government talks about "inequality", and as I said at the start of my speech, that is an interesting word. I regularly visit families who are living in overcrowded situations—families of 17 living in four-room homes who have been waiting for a house for years and have had to put up with dampness and squalid conditions. I have met disabled people who live upstairs and cannot get a house on the ground floor. There are not enough houses with sufficient particularly rooms, for minority communities, suffer additional who an disadvantage.

Wanting to deal with inequalities is easier said than done. Delivery is important, but the Government needs to take the job more seriously. It talks about inequality, but that is not just about housing, even in the public sector. I would be interested in whether the Deputy First Minister can name one public service that actually reflects the needs of the population of Scotland today in terms of equality issues.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Our final speaker in the open debate is Richard Lyle. After that, we will turn to the closing speeches.

16:22

Richard Lyle (Central Scotland) (SNP): I congratulate Jackie Baillie on not moving her amendment.

Let us look at the agendas of the Governments on both sides of the border. I will look at the Westminster coalition Government's austerity agenda first, and then at the Scottish Government, where the story is different indeed.

Over the past five years, the coalition Government at Westminster has presided over an agenda of austerity and cutbacks in spending. It is an agenda that has hurt the most vulnerable in our society more than any other group, and that is truly shameful for its record in government.

According to the Child Poverty Action Group, by 2020, 100,000 more children in Scotland could be pushed into poverty due to the UK Government's welfare reforms. The extent of the problem is deep and widespread. The figures show that. As has already been said, in 2013-14, Trussell Trust food banks in Scotland provided help to 71,428 people, which is an increase of 400 per cent on the previous year. Shockingly, 22,387—or 30 per cent—of the people who were helped in 2013-14 were children, and 100,000 more children in Scotland could be pushed into poverty.

Nonetheless, the Prime Minister and his Tory and Liberal colleagues in Westminster say that their long-term economic plan is working. My question is, who is it working for? It is certainly not working for Scotland's children or for the most vulnerable in Scotland, such as the disabled, who are also losing out as a result of the Westminster agenda. In Scotland alone, it is estimated that more than half those who claim disability living allowance will see their benefits cut by at least £1,100 a year. That money is a lifeline to many of our people, but the UK Government does not understand that, as it is a world away from Westminster's London-centric focus.

We may find ourselves asking what the alternative is. Is it the Labour Party? The Labour Party is supposed to be the party for the working class but, left to its own devices, it has made it clear in no uncertain terms that it intends to carry on with the Tory cuts that are inflicting real pain and hardship on families across Scotland. Although I am sure that those on the Labour benches will have much to say on that, we need only look at their recent voting record.

More cuts of £30 billion over the next two years have been put forward by the Tories and backed up by Labour: still better together. The people of Scotland will have their say in May about whom they want to represent them in Westminster, and I hope that we will send a strong team of SNP MPs down to Westminster. We will send those MPs down not only to demand the further powers that we were promised to help build and grow our economy, but to change course and turn the car around on the road to further austerity, with a call for more investment and a different outlook from that of the coalition Government and its slash-and-burn economic approach, which Labour would follow if it formed the Government. That is

Westminster for you: Tory, Labour; Labour, Tory. They all have the same austerity agenda.

The Scottish Government has a real alternative proposal, not to continue austerity but rather to increase spending to 2019-20. As has been said, a 0.5 per cent increase in departmental spending could reduce debt and allow for a further £180 billion of investment across the UK over the next four years. That is much at odds with the UK Government's plans and much improves on Labour's plans.

reflected on the Westminster Having Government's actions, it is only right that we look at the Scottish Government's, too. Its actions, by contrast, could not be any more different. The Scottish Government has had to deal with five years of austerity and a 10 per cent real-terms cut to the fiscal budget, with a proposed further cut of £25 billion in UK public spending over the next three years from the current UK Government. Those cuts will affect those on low incomes the most. Despite that, the Scottish Government has committed to increase the NHS's revenue budget in real terms for the remainder of this parliamentary session—and for each and every year of the next one, too. It has not just protected the NHS but actually increased the health resource budget in spite of the cuts.

The Scottish Government is also doing what it can to mitigate the effects of Westminster's welfare cuts, which will cost families in Scotland £6 billion by 2015-16. It has put in place £35 million to top-up discretionary housing payments to mitigate the effects of the bedroom tax, and it has put in place the £38 million Scottish welfare fund to administer community care grants and crisis grants. In April 2014, the then Deputy First Minister announced the Scottish independent living fund, after Westminster decided to close the UK fund. That scheme safeguards support for more than 3,000 disabled people in Scotland and builds on existing care. Investment of £5.5 million led to the fund re-opening to new users, and has ensured its long-term future.

From investing in skills, training and education and working to close the attainment gap to protecting and investing in our NHS, tackling inequality in Scotland and mitigating Westminster's welfare Scottish cuts. the Government provides the alternative to austerity and the alternative to the Tories and Labour. In May, I hope that the SNP will provide an alternative for the people of Scotland.

In the few seconds that I have left, I say to Alex Rowley that I remember when he used to come to North Lanarkshire Council. What did Labour ever do for housing in the 36 years that I was a councillor? Nothing.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: We come to closing speeches and I remind all members who participated in the debate that they should be back in the chamber.

16:28

Willie Rennie: My political beliefs, my connection with communities, my upbringing and my surroundings drive the work that I do in this place, and that is probably the case for every member. That is why we are here. We are trying to make the world a better place. It is why I have argued for investing in childcare. I have asked the Government repeatedly over a number of years to increase investment in childcare and I am pleased that some progress is being made. There has not been as much progress as I would like, but that is one of my driving forces. I see kids who have not had the best start in life and I think that they deserve a better start in life.

It is why I have argued for taking hundreds of thousands people out of tax altogether. I do not think that it is reasonable that anyone who is paid the minimum wage should pay income tax. The threshold should be brought right up and we have made big progress towards achieving that. It helps to make work pay, it incentivises people, and it makes their lives better. Last week, I met a man in the Borders who earns roughly £12,000 a year. He has seen a big difference in his pay packet, but I do not think that he should be paying any tax at all. That is one of my great ambitions.

It is also why I have argued for getting the economy back on track. I am pleased that we have made progress with 187,000 jobs since 2010.

Mike MacKenzie: Will the member take an intervention?

Willie Rennie: Not just now; I am trying to make a point.

That is why we are in politics. We all have different views about how we get to roughly the same destination; we want to make the place fairer and we want a stronger economy. Those are the things that drive us, but we have different ways of doing that. We should not castigate each other for having those different views; we should respect them. We can criticise when we think that people have got it wrong, but let us not impugn people's motives for being in this place. It is important that debates such as today's give us the opportunity to thrash things out. Politics is one of the great forces in society that make our lives better. The fact that we have heated debates in the chamber is a good thing because, overall, it drives people to make this a better place.

There has been a lot of talk about inequality today. The Institute of Fiscal Studies recently produced a report called "Living Standards: Recent Trends and Future Challenges". Page 13 of that report says clearly:

"Income inequality then fell rapidly in the wake of the recession. The 90/10 ratio was 3.9 in 2012–13, its lowest level since the late 1980s."

I am sure that other people could come up with lots of other statistics and that the statistic that I pick out of that report may be contradicted in certain ways by others. However, let us not just say that the UK Government has increased inequality, because there is no doubt that we have made a big difference in some areas. The tax threshold is one of our greatest achievements. It has taken people out of paying tax altogether. In Scotland, 236,000 people have been taken out of paying tax altogether. That is a great thing, which we should all celebrate.

Mark McDonald: As I said earlier, Mr Rennie views that in isolation when it has to interact with other things such as the raising of VAT to 20 per cent and some of the benefit changes that have been made. That means that some of the people whom he is talking about are seeing negative impacts as a result of the cumulative effects of those measures.

Willie Rennie: I do not accept that they are seeing negative impacts, but I recognise that, to get the deficit under control, we had to do some other things. Denying that we need to get the deficit under control is not looking after our kids. Our children and grandchildren will not thank us if we continue to build up debts for the future and leave them lumbered with huge interest rates and bond yields that will burden them for future years. Past generations have done that and I do not think that we should do it.

Nigel Don: I am grateful that we have got to this point. However, although I accept that I would not want to foist a debt on my children or grandchildren, surely the size of the debt numerically is not the important bit. What is important is its affordability relative to the country's income and the person's income. Surely that is the point. If we increase someone's income, their debt becomes more affordable.

Willie Rennie: I accept that. It is not about size alone, but the size of the debt has an impact on its affordability, as I am sure that Nigel Don recognises. We need to create a robust economy.

That is why, when we did not manage to keep on track with deficit reduction as we would have liked to because of the European economy, the market still had confidence in us. We had a longterm economic plan that would have a long-term benefit for the country. The member is absolutely right about that.

Alex Rowley: Will the member give way?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: The member is in his final minute I am afraid.

Willie Rennie: I apologise to Mr Rowley; I will not be able to take his intervention.

It would be remiss of me if I did not observe one important fact about today. Not one SNP member has talked about corporation tax. Not one. For something that was a central part of the referendum campaign—

Stewart Stevenson: It was not a central part.

Willie Rennie: Despite what the SNP members are grumbling, the 3p cut in corporation tax was a central part of the referendum campaign, so I would have thought that at least one SNP member might have provided at least a little bit of an explanation as to why there has been such a handbrake turn and such a reversal in policy. Perhaps John Swinney will do that in summing up.

16:34

Alex Johnstone (North East Scotland) (Con): I have spoken in similar debates in the past, and I have heard all the same speeches again today. Why should I let the side down? I will give much the same speech as I have given previously.

As I have said before, I admire John Swinney. I hope that that does not embarrass him. He is the best finance minister that the Scottish Government has ever had. He is the man who has been responsible for ensuring that a tight budget has been made to work for Scotland. He has used the powers that have been devolved to the Parliament to achieve that, and I am confident that he will do so with the additional powers that are coming. The problem is that John Swinney has spoiled it all—as he has done before—by saying that, of course, in an independent Scotland money would flow like water and he would spend it as quickly as he could get his hands on it. Unfortunately, that does not work.

I rarely agree with Jackie Baillie, but occasionally I find something to agree with her on. In her opening speech, she described the Government's prospective economic policy as

"an economic strategy for an alternate universe."

I could not agree more.

The fact is that the Government is presenting a false prospectus to the Scottish electorate. It imagines that it can talk about Labour spending plans and try to outflank Labour on the left but with a broader economic policy that is based on Conservative tax policies—there is going to be no

increased tax; there is just going to be more spend. Yet, the fact is that the £180 billion that the Government says that it would invest—in the UK economy, I believe, rather than simply in Scotland—would cost us money. The cost of borrowing £180 billion for 10 years, at today's 10-year bond rate, would be about £35 billion. That is £35 billion of interest payments that would not be spent on hospitals, schools or public services.

Chic Brodie: Will the member take an intervention?

Alex Johnstone: No, thank you.

That is the problem with that idea, which was detailed by my good friend Chic Brodie, who believes in all my Conservative economic theories. He believes that, by investing in the economy and expanding the economy, we can create jobs, wealth and a greater tax yield and fund better public services. The problem is that the creative economic thinking for which Chic Brodie is famous does not acknowledge the fact that we would have to borrow the money up front and that, if we could not pay back the £35 billion over 10 years, we would not have a penny to spend.

Mark McDonald: Will the member give way?

Chic Brodie: Will the member give way?

Alex Johnstone: No, thank you.

Even John Swinney, in his opening speech, referred to the fact that Chancellor George Osborne adjusted his policy and loosened the economic bind when it was correct to do so. However. Mr Swinney failed to compare adequately the direction in which our economy has travelled to the direction of those in other parts of the world, including just across the Channel, in France. François Hollande was elected President on the basis of promises that he would flood the economy with resource, expand the French economy and turn France into a boom nation in the post-recession era. Today, France has hit the skids and it is we, in Britain, who have enjoyed 3.5 per cent growth in the past 12 months and seen our borrowing requirement drop from 10 per cent of GDP to 5 per cent of GDP. While John Swinney no longer projecting his plan B, the achievements of plan A-according to Willie Rennie's figures-mean that it has outperformed John Swinney's plan B by a factor of 6.

In September, Alex Salmond made some brave predictions about the price of oil. Three months later, he was proved dramatically wrong. John Swinney has today made projections about the prevailing economic weather in 2024 and he expects us to believe them. The prospect that the SNP has set out today is based on hit and hope. It is based on an alternative economic strategy that

has been tried and has failed across Europe and the world.

George Osborne has delivered a key economic strategy at a point of economic crisis for our nation. In the space of five years, he has taken us from the point of economic collapse—where no one wanted to know what was going on and the Labour chancellor left a note when he left office that said, "There's nae mair money"—to a position today where we can project our way out of this crisis

We have delivered on behalf of the UK economy and, yes, we have delivered for the Scottish economy, too.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Draw to a close, please.

Alex Johnstone: There is much to do, but a great deal has already been done. We cannot afford to spoil it by accepting this false economic prospectus.

16:41

Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab): On Wednesday the First Minister launched her economic policy, and like most things in her first 100 or so days, it went off with a whimper. It was a flat announcement that passed most people by. Of course, following the launch the spin doctors took over and we eventually found out, through briefings to the media, that one of the central planks of the Scottish Government's economic policy—one of the central arguments that it has deployed over the past decade—had bitten the dust: namely, the devolution of corporation tax so that the Scottish Government could levy

"the most competitive business taxes in Europe",

starting with a cut of 3 per cent lower than anything that Osborne would set. However, there was not a word on that in Honest John's speech or from any of the rest of them.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Mr Findlay—avoid using first names and nicknames, please.

Neil Findlay: Will do, Presiding Officer.

As early as 2005, in her conference speech, Nicola Sturgeon was a great enthusiast:

"We'll cut corporation tax because we know from our European competitors, like Ireland and Sweden, that it's the way to grow our nation's wealth."

said she, and almost every SNP MSP has championed the policy. Not one of them—not one—has had the backbone to stand up and say that it was wrong, particularly at a time of austerity and when public services are under such threat.

Chic Brodie: Will Neil Findlay take an intervention?

Neil Findlay: I am always willing to take an intervention from a Liberal Democrat, Mr Brodie.

Chic Brodie: I remind Mr Findlay that some people leave their party because of their principles, but others leave their principles because of their party.

We are talking about backbone, so how would Mr Findlay have voted on the Trident agreement to spend £100 billion—or would he have been absent, like many Labour members were? Also, how would he have voted on the austerity cuts of £30 billion?

Neil Findlay: We are debating the economy. However, Mr Brodie may wish to know that I am a member of the Campaign for Nuclear Disarmament, so the clue is there. The difference is that when I disagree with my party, I am willing to say so, unlike the sheep and the sycophants in the SNP seats.

Corporation tax was one of the SNP's big postelection demands. We can recall Alex Salmond when he bounced into London after the 2011 election with a list of six asks. He said that

"lower corporation tax would be the 'best available weapon' for an independent Scotland to be competitive".

It would lead to a "jobs boom," said he. He told us that

"modelling shows the policy would create 27,000 jobs in Scotland and increase GDP by over 1% in the medium term."

There were no greater champions of that policy than the Friedmanites in the Cabinet, led by Mr Swinney who said that

"Control over corporation tax would enable us to boost investment, bringing jobs to communities across Scotland, grow the economy and take the right decisions for Scotland."

He said of his paper on the subject that

"There is clear evidence from around the world of the benefits from lowering burdens on business—and this 54-page document sets out the compelling evidence in more detail than ever before.

Lower corporation tax is a vital source of competitive advantage in an integrated global economy, helping to attract new businesses and highly-skilled jobs. A competitive corporation tax regime has been a feature of the economic success of many countries, and we want Scotland to have the same opportunities to bring in jobs and boost growth."

Gil Paterson: Hear, hear.

Neil Findlay: "Hear, hear"? Mr Paterson's party has abandoned the policy.

Of course, endorsements from Souter and Murdoch followed, but no other credible commentator would endorse it. Stephen Boyd, the respected economist of the Scottish Trades Union

Congress, called the Scottish Government's policy document

"an excruciatingly awful piece of work"

in which

"every argument presented was easily debunked."

Joseph Stiglitz, one of the First Minister's economic advisers, said:

"Some of you have been told that lowering tax rates on corporations will lead to more investment.

The fact is that's not true. It is just a gift to the corporations increasing inequality in our society."

Richard Murphy of the tax justice network said:

"these people really are in La La land and it's time they woke up and saw the reality of the harm they're really proposing to the ordinary people who will suffer cuts in education, health care, pensions and other essential services as a result of their mad thinking."

However, they ploughed on until this week. Who did they send out to defend that huge U-turn on "Scotland 2015" on Wednesday night? It was not Mr Swinney or the First Minister but none other than the man who will say anything and do anything—as we have seen today—to become a minister. Step forward, Mark McDonald. He was sent out to defend dumping a policy that he once championed. This is the man who said in a debate:

"At least Patrick Harvie's position on corporation tax policy is consistent, although he and I might disagree on it."—[Official Report, 7 January 2014; c 26164.]

Consistency is not a charge that we would ever level at Mr McDonald or Mr Swinney.

Mark McDonald: Will Neil Findlay give way?

Neil Findlay: No thank you—not at the moment.

Mark McDonald: Come on.

Neil Findlay: I will—[Interruption.]

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Order.

Neil Findlay: I will let you in—[Interruption.]

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Order, please.

Mark McDonald: Come on. [Interruption.]

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Order!

Neil Findlay: No, no, I will let you in when I finish my quotation, Mr McDonald. [*Interruption*.]

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Order.

Neil Findlay: I give Mr McDonald some credit because he at least had the decency to look as though he would rather have had root-canal treatment from the world's worst dentist than defend the policy U-turn on television, but defend it he did.

Mark McDonald: I would certainly rather have root-canal treatment than listen to Mr Findlay. Perhaps he can advise us whether, in all the years when Gordon Brown, as Chancellor of the Exchequer, was reducing corporation tax, he supported that approach being taken by the Labour Party.

Neil Findlay: That was when the economy was growing. [*Laughter.*]

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Order, please. [*Interruption*.] Order.

Neil Findlay: This is a time of austerity. I say to Mr McDonald that it is simple: why would we rip money out of the economy when it is going downwards? Surely that makes sense even to him. However, I am sure that the whips will reward him for his work.

Not one SNP member mentioned the corporation tax policy in their speeches, nor did they mention a policy of redistribution from rich to poor. Mark McDonald said that a Labour Government would be bound by the coalition's OBR charter.

The Minister for Transport and Islands (Derek Mackay): Will Neil Findlay give way?

Neil Findlay: Not at the moment.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: The member is in his last minute.

Neil Findlay: No Parliament can bind its successor, so Mr McDonald knows that that argument is nonsense.

Christina McKelvie rightly raised issues of poverty and inequality. We probably agree more than we disagree on those issues, but the SNP cannot address them when it cuts council budgets by 24 per cent. Councils are the front line in the fight against poverty and inequality, as John Pentland said and Alex Rowley rightly evidenced from his constituency. Food banks, the social housing crisis and the jobs crisis are huge issues that we cannot allow local government not to address.

Christina McKelvie: Will Neil Findlay give way?

Neil Findlay: I am in my last minute.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Mr Findlay must draw to a close.

Neil Findlay: The Government said that it supported tax cuts but now says that it does not. It opposed a 50p rate of tax but who knows now? It cut 130,000 college places but now wants to invest in skills.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You must close.

Neil Findlay: We need a Labour Government that will have a 50p tax rate, introduce a bankers bonus tax and mansion tax, extend the living wage and minimum wage, end abusive zero-hours contracts and borrow to invest.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Mr Findlay, I need you to close.

Neil Findlay: That is a credible plan for a fairer Scotland and it requires us to kick that lot in the Tory party out as soon as we can.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Before I call John Swinney to wind up the debate, I remind all members that they must show respect for one another in the chamber.

You have until 5 o'clock, Mr Swinney.

16:49

John Swinney: I want to start by referring to a comment that Mr Pentland made-it was about the only remark that he made with which I agreed. He said that there are choices to be made in political life about the priorities that we support. One of this Government's priorities would be not to renew the Trident nuclear missile system and to save the public of this country £100 billion of expenditure on a completely needless piece of weaponry. When Mr Findlay talked about the austerity climate that he is so concerned about, he did not utter a word about whether he believed that the priority of the next Parliament should be to renew the Trident missile system or whether we should secure that saving and whether that represents the position of his party. We know that his party is gung-ho about spending £100 billion on renewing the Trident missile system.

There are choices to be made in political life. I have made choices in my role as the finance minister in Scotland over the past eight years. Between 2007-08 and 2012-13, the budget that has been available to me has fallen by 4.8 per cent in real terms, whereas the budget that has been available to local government has decreased by 2.6 per cent in real terms. Therefore, as a result of the choices that we have made as an Administration, local government has been protected from some of the cuts that have been inflicted on this Government. Mr Findlay is welcome to stand up and congratulate me on that.

Neil Findlay: If the cabinet secretary is protecting local government, why are councils having to make excessive cuts and lose jobs year on year? Why are our services being closed? If that is protection, Mr Swinney needs to wake up and see what is happening in local government.

John Swinney: That is happening because Mr Findlay's party went into an alliance with the

Tories to stop Scotland being in control of our own affairs. [Interruption.]

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Order, please.

John Swinney: If Mr Findlay wants to find out about the performance of local authorities, he need only look at "An overview of local government in Scotland 2015", which came out this morning, in which the Accounts Commission says:

"Councils have managed the financial pressures well so far. Available performance information indicates that services have been improved or maintained."

It goes on to say, on page 11:

"it is clear that councils in England have faced more severe cuts".

Let us look at budget performance in Scotland. The principal ask of the Labour Party with regard to this year's budget was to give more money to the health service. We gave more money to the health service. If we take the health service out of public expenditure and look at the remainder—because the Labour Party agrees with us on health spending—the share of our budget that is devoted to local government, which was 55.7 per cent, is now 57.2 per cent. The local government settlement has given fair priority to local government.

I do not in any way disguise the financial challenges that local government faces, but we face those challenges, too—everyone in the public sector faces them, because of austerity. That is why we want to do something about it. The Scottish Government's plan to increase real spending by 0.5 per cent per annum from 2016-17 to 2019-20 is an entirely sustainable proposition. Public sector borrowing and public sector debt will be falling as a share of GDP by the end of the next session of Parliament. A deficit of 2 per cent, which is what our plan would result in, is sustainable and consistent with debt falling as a share of GDP. Interestingly, a deficit of that magnitude would be smaller than the average deficit in the UK over the past 60 years.

Jackie Baillie: We have talked about full fiscal autonomy. What assessment has John Swinney made of the impact of full fiscal autonomy—which is the SNP's policy—on the deficit and on services such as health, education and pensions?

John Swinney: What Jackie Baillie must understand is that, as I have explained to her many times before, with fiscal autonomy comes the ability to boost and expand the economy, which would give us the ability to invest in our public services. That is the answer.

I will look at the wider assessment, as there has been a lot of critique from Mr Rennie and Mr Brown of the implications of our alternative approach to austerity. Let me read to members a quote from the director of the National Institute of Economic and Social Research. He said:

"there is quite a lot of room for manoeuvre in terms of plans to get the deficit down over the next Parliament. Even what Nicola Sturgeon is proposing, which would involve spending quite a lot more and borrowing quite a lot more than what the Conservatives are proposing, would still result in a falling deficit and falling debt over the Parliament, so it would be fiscally sustainable."

That should be recognised across the chamber.

Colleagues across the chamber have asked about the Government's position on corporation tax. I hate to disappoint Mr Findlay, who seemed to be getting himself worked up into a terrible lather about the matter, but the Government remains committed to lower corporation tax. That is the Government's position and that is what is stated on page 80 of "Scotland's Economic Strategy". [Interruption.]

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): Order.

John Swinney: We have set out our approach to reduce corporation tax in a targeted way to support investment in capital, which is entirely consistent with the remainder of our economic strategy.

Gavin Brown: John Swinney has supported a blanket reduction in corporation tax for almost a decade. When did he change his mind and why?

John Swinney: The Government has reviewed our economic strategy to make it more targeted on boosting innovation, internationalisation and infrastructure in our country. That is why we believe that a more targeted approach is essential.

I will complete my response to Mr Findlay. If he had turned over the page on corporation tax in "Scotland's Economic Strategy" from which he read—if he had read the corporation tax point first of all, he would have realised that we remain committed to lower corporation tax—he would have read on page 81 of that document that the Government believes that we should have

"Responsibility for employment rights, including the National Minimum Wage".

That was my position in the Smith commission, of course. It would have been nice if the Labour Party had bothered to support that to enable us to tackle some of those issues.

Mr Rennie invited me to redeem myself by learning some lessons from the Liberal Democrats' record. Therefore, let me share with Parliament some elements of the record of the Liberal Democrats, who have been associated with the Conservatives in a coalition Government that looks like it will give them a lot of electoral success as a consequence.

As of the third quarter of 2014, GDP per capita in the United Kingdom was 1.8 per cent below prerecession levels. That is what the Liberal Democrats have delivered. Real wages are 4.1 per cent below their 2008 levels. That is what the Liberal Democrats have delivered. The Institute for Fiscal Studies has found that tax and benefits changes that the UK Government has introduced have harmed the poorest 10 per cent of households more than any other section of the population. That is what the Liberal Democrats have delivered. The Child Poverty Action Group believes that an additional 100,000 children in Scotland could be living in relative poverty, after housing costs, because of the UK Government's actions. That is what the Liberal Democrats have delivered.

Willie Rennie: Taxes have been cut, pensions are up, there is more childcare and the economy is back on track. That is what the Lib Dems have done, and John Swinney needs to recognise that.

John Swinney: If Mr Rennie tells that to the poorest 10 per cent of the population, who have borne the greatest bit of the burden of the UK Government's austerity programme, they will laugh in his face at the absurdity of his remarks.

Jackie Baillie tried to suggest in her speech that the Labour Party would have nothing to do with austerity. That was so gently expressed that we almost thought that she had come to a conclusion that was different from that of her colleagues in the UK Labour Party. However, the UK Labour Party trooped into the lobbies of the House of Commons to vote for the charter for budget responsibility, which will commit the Labour Party to £30 billionworth of cuts. Jackie Baillie should have given her pleading speech to the Labour Party in London rather than coming here after the event, when the decision has been taken.

Jackie Baillie: Could the SNP and the cabinet secretary explain why, yesterday, when we had a chance to oppose Tory austerity measures, SNP MPs sat on their hands and did nothing?

John Swinney: For two reasons. The first is that, although the Labour motion was committing to sensible, nice Labour cuts as opposed to horrible Tory cuts, they are still cuts, whether Tory or Labour—or is it the other way around? I cannot tell the difference.

The other reason is that yesterday's motion was posturing by the Labour Party, because, when it mattered, the Labour Party went into the lobbies and put into law that the cuts must be made. That is the absurdity that the Labour Party has become, and we will remind the people of Scotland of that right up until 7 May.

Parliamentary Bureau Motions

Decision Time

17:01

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): The next item of business is consideration of two Parliamentary Bureau motions. I ask Joe FitzPatrick to move motion S4M-12503 and S4M-12496. on approval of Scottish statutory instruments.

Motions moved,

That the Parliament agrees that the Scotland Act 1998 (Modification of Schedule 5) Order 2015 [draft] be approved.

That the Parliament agrees that the European Protection Order (Scotland) Regulations 2015 [draft] be approved.— [Joe FitzPatrick.]

The Presiding Officer: The questions on the motions will be put at decision time.

Point of Order

17:01

James Kelly (Rutherglen) (Lab): On a point of order, Presiding Officer. During the exchanges between Kezia Dugdale and the First Minister at First Minister's question time today, the First Minister said:

"We are spending more on colleges today than Labour ever did throughout its entire time in office."

That is an inaccurate statement. In 2006-07, the spending on colleges was £598 million, which is £23 million more than the current college budget, which is £575 million. The First Minister has, therefore, misled Parliament, and I seek your advice, Presiding Officer, on how the record can be corrected.

The Presiding Officer: As the member is well aware, and as I say time and again in the chamber, I am not responsible for what is said in the chamber, nor am I responsible for the content of the answers. You have now made your point and we will move on to the next item of business.

17:01

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): There are six questions to be put as a result of today's business.

In relation to this afternoon's debate, I remind members that, if the amendment in the name of Jackie Baillie is agreed to, the amendments in the name of Gavin Brown and Willie Rennie fall.

The first question is, that amendment S4M-12521.2, in the name of Jackie Baillie, which seeks to amend motion S4M-12521, in the name of John Swinney, on protecting public services and boosting Scotland's economy, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab)

Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)

Baxter, Jayne (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)

Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab)

Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab)

Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab)

Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab)

Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab)

Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab)

Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab) Hilton, Cara (Dunfermline) (Lab)

Kelly, James (Rutherglen) (Lab)

Macintosh, Ken (Eastwood) (Lab)

Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab)

Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab)

McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab)

McMahon, Michael (Uddingston and Bellshill) (Lab)

McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab)

Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab)

Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab)

Rowley, Alex (Cowdenbeath) (Lab)

Smith, Drew (Glasgow) (Lab)

Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab)

Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Against

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP)

Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP)

Allan, Dr Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP)

Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP)

Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP)

Biagi, Marco (Edinburgh Central) (SNP)

Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP)

Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con)

Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP)

Buchanan, Cameron (Lothian) (Con)

Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP)

Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP)

Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con)

Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP)

Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP)

Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP)

Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP)

Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con)

Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP)

Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP)

Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP)

Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP)

Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP)

Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP)

Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP)

Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con)

Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Ind)

FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP)

Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP)

Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP)

Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con)

Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and

Lauderdale) (SNP)

Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green)

Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP)

Ingram, Adam (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP)

Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con)

Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green)

Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP)

Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP)

Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP)

Lyle, Richard (Central Scotland) (SNP)

MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP)

MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP)

MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP)

Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP)

MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP)

Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP)

Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP)

McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP)

McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD)

McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP)

McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD)

McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP)

McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP)

McLeod, Fiona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP)

Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con)

Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con)

Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP)

Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP)

Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD)

Robertson, Dennis (Aberdeenshire West) (SNP)

Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP)

Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP)

Salmond, Alex (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP)

Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

Scott, John (Ayr) (Con)

Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD)

Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP)

Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP)

Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP)

Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP)

Thompson, Dave (Skye, Lochaber and Badenoch) (SNP)

Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP)

Urquhart, Jean (Highlands and Islands) (Ind)

Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP)

Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP)

White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP)

Wilson, John (Central Scotland) (Ind)

Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 25, Against 81, Abstentions 0.

[Interruption.] Is it at all possible that members can stop shouting across the chamber?

Amendment disagreed to.

The Presiding Officer: I remind members that, if the amendment in the name of Gavin Brown is agreed to, the amendment in the name of Willie Rennie falls.

The next question is, that amendment S4M-12521.1, in the name of Gavin Brown, which seeks to amend motion S4M-12521, in the name of John Swinney, on protecting public services and boosting Scotland's economy, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con)

Buchanan, Cameron (Lothian) (Con)

Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con)

Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con)

Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con)

Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con)

Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con)

McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD)

McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD)

Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con)

Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con)

Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD)

Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

Scott, John (Ayr) (Con)

Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD)

Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Against

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP)

Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP)

Allan, Dr Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP)

Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP)

Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab)

Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)

Baxter, Jayne (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)

Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab)

Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP)

Biagi, Marco (Edinburgh Central) (SNP)

Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab)

Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP)

Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP)

Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP)

Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP)

Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab)

Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP)

Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP)

Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP)

Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP)

Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP)

Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP)

Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP)

Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP)

Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab)

Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP)

Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP)

Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP)

Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab)

Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab)

FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP)

Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP)

Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP)

Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and

Lauderdale) (SNP)

Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab)

Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green)

Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP)

Hilton, Cara (Dunfermline) (Lab)

Ingram, Adam (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP)

Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green)

Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP)

Kelly, James (Rutherglen) (Lab)

Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP)

Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP)

Lyle, Richard (Central Scotland) (SNP)

MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP)

MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP)

MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP)

Macintosh, Ken (Eastwood) (Lab)

Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP)

MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP)

Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab)

Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab)

Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP)

Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP)

McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP)

McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab)

McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP)

McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse)

McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP)

McLeod, Fiona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP)

McMahon, Michael (Uddingston and Bellshill) (Lab)

McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab)

Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab)

Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP)

Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP)

Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab)

Robertson, Dennis (Aberdeenshire West) (SNP)

Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP)

Rowley, Alex (Cowdenbeath) (Lab)

Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP)

Salmond, Alex (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP)

Smith, Drew (Glasgow) (Lab)

Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab)

Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP)

Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP)

Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP)

Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP)

Thompson, Dave (Skye, Lochaber and Badenoch) (SNP)

Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP)

Urquhart, Jean (Highlands and Islands) (Ind)

Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine)

(SNP)

Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP)

White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP)

Wilson, John (Central Scotland) (Ind)

Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 17, Against 88, Abstentions 0.

Amendment disagreed to.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that amendment S4M-12521.3, in the name of Willie Rennie, which seeks to amend motion S4M-12521, in the name of John Swinney, on

protecting public services and boosting Scotland's economy, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD) Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD)

Against

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP)

Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP)

Allan, Dr Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP)

Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP)

Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab)

Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)

Baxter, Jayne (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)

Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab)

Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP)

Biagi, Marco (Edinburgh Central) (SNP)

Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab)

Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP)

Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP)

Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP)

Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP)

Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab)

Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP)

Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP)

Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP)

Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinross-

shire) (SNP)

Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP)

Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP)

Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP)

Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP)

Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab)

Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP)

Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP)

Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP)

Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab)

Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab)

Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Ind)

FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP)

Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and

Lauderdale) (SNP)

Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab)

Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green)

Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP)

Hilton, Cara (Dunfermline) (Lab)

Ingram, Adam (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP)

Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green) Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP)

Kelly, James (Rutherglen) (Lab)

Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP)

Lyle, Richard (Central Scotland) (SNP)

MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP)

MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP)

MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP)

Macintosh, Ken (Eastwood) (Lab)

Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP)

MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP)

Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab)
Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab)

Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP)

Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP)
McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP)
McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab)
McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP)

McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP)

McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP)

McLeod, Fiona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP)

McMahon, Michael (Uddingston and Bellshill) (Lab)

McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab) Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP)

Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP) Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab)

Robertson, Dennis (Aberdeenshire West) (SNP)

Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Rowley, Alex (Cowdenbeath) (Lab)

Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Salmond, Alex (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP)

Smith, Drew (Glasgow) (Lab)

Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab)

Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP)

Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP)

Thompson, Dave (Skye, Lochaber and Badenoch) (SNP)

Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP)

Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con)

Urguhart, Jean (Highlands and Islands) (Ind)

Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP)

Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Wilson, John (Central Scotland) (Ind) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP)

Abstentions

Buchanan, Cameron (Lothian) (Con)
Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con)
Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con)
Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con)
Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con)
Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con)
McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con)
Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con)
Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con)
Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con)
Scott, John (Ayr) (Con)
Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 4, Against 89, Abstentions 13.

Amendment disagreed to.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that motion S4M-12521, in the name of John Swinney, on protecting public services and boosting Scotland's economy, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP)
Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP)
Allan, Dr Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP)
Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP)
Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP)

Biagi, Marco (Edinburgh Central) (SNP) Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP)

Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP)

Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP)

Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP)

Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP)

Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP)

Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP)

Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP)

Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP)

Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP)

Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP)

Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP)

FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP)

Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP)

Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and

Lauderdale) (SNP)

Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP)

Ingram, Adam (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP)

Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP)
Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP)
Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP)
Lyle, Richard (Central Scotland) (SNP)
MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP)
MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP)

MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP)
Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP)
MacKappin Mile (Ulimbands and Islands) (SNP)

MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP)

Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP)

McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP)

McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP)

McLeod, Fiona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP)

Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP)
Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP)

Robertson, Dennis (Aberdeenshire West) (SNP) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP)

Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Salmond, Alex (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP)

Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP)

Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP)

Thompson, Dave (Skye, Lochaber and Badenoch) (SNP)

Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP)

Urquhart, Jean (Highlands and Islands) (Ind)

Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP)

Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP)

Against

Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab)
Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)

Baxter, Jayne (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)

Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab)

Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab) Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con)

Buchanan, Cameron (Lothian) (Con)

Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con)

Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab)

Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab) Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con)

Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab)

Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con)

Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab)

Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green)

Hilton, Cara (Dunfermline) (Lab)

Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con)

Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green)

Kelly, James (Rutherglen) (Lab)

Macintosh, Ken (Eastwood) (Lab)

Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab)

Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab)

McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD)

McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab)

McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD)

McMahon, Michael (Uddingston and Bellshill) (Lab)

McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab)

Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con)

Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con)

Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab)

Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab)

Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD)

Rowley, Alex (Cowdenbeath) (Lab)

Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

Scott, John (Ayr) (Con)

Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD)

Smith, Drew (Glasgow) (Lab)

Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab)

Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Abstentions

Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) Wilson, John (Central Scotland) (Ind)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 60, Against 44, Abstentions 2.

Motion agreed to.

That the Parliament condemns the unfair approach that the UK Government is taking to reductions in public spending and the disproportionate impact that this is having on low-income households; endorses the approach of the Scottish Government, which has fairness at its heart and would see a 0.5% real increase in spending on public services every year from 2016-17 to 2019-20 while continuing to reduce debt over the next parliamentary session; welcomes the additional £180 billion of investment for protecting crucial public services that this will deliver compared with the UK Government's plans; further welcomes the publication of Scotland's Economic Strategy, and agrees that reducing inequality is not only important in itself, but is vital to establishing the conditions needed to deliver sustainable economic growth over the long term.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that motion S4M-12503, in the name of Joe FitzPatrick, on approval of a Scottish statutory instrument, be agreed to.

Motion agreed to,

That the Parliament agrees that the Scotland Act 1998 (Modification of Schedule 5) Order 2015 [draft] be approved.

The Presiding Officer: The final question is, that motion S4M-12496, in the name of Joe

FitzPatrick, on approval of a Scottish statutory instrument, be agreed to.

Motion agreed to,

That the Parliament agrees that the European Protection Order (Scotland) Regulations 2015 [draft] be approved.

Meeting closed at 17:07.

Members who would like a printed copy of the Official Repo	ort to be forwarded to them should give notice to SPICe.
Available in e-format only. Printed Scottish Parliament documentation is published in Edinburgh by APS Group Scotland.	
All documents are available on the Scottish Parliament website at:	For information on the Scottish Parliament contact Public Information on:
www.scottish.parliament.uk For details of documents available to order in hard copy format, please contact: APS Scottish Parliament Publications on 0131 629 9941.	Telephone: 0131 348 5000 Textphone: 0800 092 7100 Email: sp.info@scottish.parliament.uk
	e-format first available ISBN 978-1-78568-056-4
	Revised e-format available ISBN 978-1-78568-073-1

Printed in Scotland by APS Group Scotland